
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  

April 18, 2018 – 1:30 PM 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor 

Petaluma, CA 94954 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of the March 21, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes

3. Public Comment on Non-agenda Items

4. Board Member Announcements

5. General Manager’s Report

6. Consent
a. Approval of Monthly Financial Reports
b. Approval of James Flageollet Contract Amendment No. 6
c. Authorize the General Manager to Execute an Agreement with the

Transportation Authority of Marin for the use of the South of Corte Madera
Creek for a Pathway

7. Approve a Resolution Authorizing the General Manager to Submit State Transit
Assistant Fund Claims to the Metropolitan Transportation Commission

8. Approval of Burke, Williams & Sorenson, LLP, Contract Amendment No. 5

9. Approve a Resolution Authorizing Change Order A-001 to Contract No. CV-DB-16-001
with Stacy and Witbeck/Herzog for the Andersen Drive 36” Storm Drain in the amount
of $478,781 at the request and expense of the City of San Rafael

10. Closed Session - Conference with the Chief of Police and General Manager regarding
security of public services and public facilities pursuant to California Government Code
Section 54957

Page 1 of 62



11. Report Out of Closed Session

12. Next Regular Meeting Board of Directors, May 2, 2018 – 1:30 PM – 5401 Old Redwood
Highway, 1st Floor, Petaluma, CA  94954

13. Adjournment

DISABLED ACCOMMODATION: If you have a disability that requires the agenda materials to be in an alternate format 
or that requires an interpreter or other person to assist you while attending this meeting, please contact SMART at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting to ensure arrangements for accommodation. Please contact the Clerk of the 
Board at (707) 794-3072 or dial CRS 711 for more information.  

DOCUMENTS: Documents distributed by SMART for its monthly Board meeting or committee meetings, and which 
are not otherwise privileged, may be inspected at SMART’s office located at 5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200, 
Petaluma, CA 94954 during regular business hours. Documents may also be viewed on SMART’s website at: 
www.sonomamarintrain.org. Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to SMART after distribution of 
the agenda packet are available for public inspection at the SMART Office. For information about accessing SMART 
meetings by public transit, use the trip planner at www.511.org 

Page 2 of 62



Page 1 of 6 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  

March 21, 2018 - 1:30 PM  
5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor 

Petaluma, CA 94954 

1. Call to Order

Chair Fudge called the meeting to order at 1:30pm. Directors Arnold, Eddie, Lucan, Mackenzie,
Pahre, Russell and Zane were present. Director Hillmer absent; Directors Connolly and Rabbitt
arrived later.

2. Approval of the March 7, 2018 Board Meeting Minutes

Director Phillips stated that we would like corrections made to his statement on page 2 and 3 of
the March 7, 2018 minutes. The March 7, 2018 minutes are amended to reflect his correction to
his statement.

Director Connolly arrived 1:32pm

Director Rabbitt arrived 1:34pm

MOTION: Director Pahre moved approval of March 7, 2018 amended minutes. Director
Mackenzie second. The motion carries 11-0-0. (Director Hillmer absent)

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items
None

4. Board Member Announcements

Director Mackenzie said that Director Rabbitt, as Chair of Association of Bay Area Governments
(ABAG) and himself, as Chair of Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) presented to
Congress in Washington, DC their joint Accelerating Progress: Strong Partnerships Move the Bay
Area Forward Annual Report 2018 (“Annual Report”) to urge lawmakers to honor existing
transportation, housing and other relief programs. While in Washington, DC they both met with
state/federal representatives, non-profit agencies, Transportation for America and the Federal

Page 3 of 62



Page 2 of 6 

Transit Administration. The report features New Starts Projects near completion: SMART 
Larkspur Extension. The Starts Grant Agreement is pending signatures by the Federal 
Transportation Administration (FTA). The General Manager Mansourian and staff have been 
actively working FTA to get approval of the grant. Also, they met with FTA Deputy Administrator 
Williams to discuss the approval of the Smarts Grant Agreement. SMART has received full 
support from the FTA, however very slow progress with Trump Administration.   

Director Rabbitt stated that there are three projects that they urged Congress to appropriate: 1) 
SMART’s Larkspur Extension ($23M); 2) SFMTA Central Subway ($23M) and 3) Caltrain ($100M). 
These projects were brought to the attention of Congressman Huffman and Secretary Chao. 

Director Russell stated that Sonoma County Transportation Authority Executive Director 
Suzanne Smith announced that SMART is one of the top three finalist for the 29th Annual 
California Transportation Foundation Award. The winner will be announced on May 24, 2018 in 
Orange County. SMART is competing with Sacramento Valley and the City of Fullerton. 

Director Eddie stated that SMART achieved 100% performance and is very lucky to have a caring 
and dedicated staff. Also, it is exciting to see the construction of Anderson Drive, since 
Schoenberg protested the closure of Anderson Drive.  

Director Mackenzie stated that the Annual Report has a Regional Measure 3 (RM3) Project Map 
which includes the San Rafael Transit Center (Bettini Center) and the Extension to Windsor and 
Healdsburg. The RM3 will be on the Bay Area June 2018 ballot. There is a Bay Area Committee 
comprised of Marin and Sonoma counties for the passage of RM3 that Maureen Middlebrook is 
Chair. 

5. General Manager’s Report

General Manager Mansourian provided his written report to the Board. He stated that SMART’s
Operation staff achieved 100% performance for the month of February. He thanked and
acknowledge everyone and said this is a huge testimony of their commitment.

He said that the approved expedited method to seek proposals for the Railroad Square Project
will be released on March 30th. Property information, title reports, environmental documents
and submittal requirement and deadlines will also be posted on the SMART’s website.

He announced that Freight operator Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company will begin testing
its Positive Train Control (PTC) system starting March 29th to meet Federal Railroad
Administration requirements. All freight testing will be conducted when SMART trains are not
operating and testing can up to 6 months. In the Santa Rosa and Rohnert Park neighborhood
they will use the train horn. SMART will be releasing a press announcement of this activity
through social media and website.

Directors’ Comments
Director Zane asked about the complaint status regarding the signals at Rohnert Park

Page 4 of 62



 

Page 3 of 6 

Expressway and the Customer Service issue that a member of the public experienced. Mr. 
Mansourian responded that SMART has investigated the compliant and reviewed the 
computerized data logs for that date and found that the crossing gates and warning signals were 
functioning properly. SMART has also followed up with our customer service team, so that they 
better understand how to address issues properly. Director Zane suggested that SMART 
continues educating the public regarding the gate crossing and flashing warning signs. She also 
asked SMART had any updates on the Jennings Avenue Crossing. Mr. Mansourian responded no, 
still waiting on the City of Santa Rosa many meeting have been requested and cancelled. Director 
Zane stated that members of the public need to contact the City of Santa Rosa regarding this 
matter.  

 
 Director Phillips stated that he received the same complaint regarding the signals at Rohnert 

Park and acknowledge the email. 
 
 Director Rabbitt thanked SMART staff, City of Petaluma and the City of Novato for continuing to 

work on the all the private crossing South of Petaluma through North of Novato. The County of 
Sonoma is the lead agency and submitted an application to the Federal Railroad Administration 
(FRA). Mr. Mansourian asked Directors Rabbitt and Zane to follow-up with County of Sonoma 
Counsel to finalize the Agreement with SMART’s District Counsel. 

  
 Director Lucan stated that he has received positive feedback regarding the completed Pathway 

in Novato.  Mr. Mansourian acknowledged Chief Engineer Bill Gamlen for his work on Pathway 
and ribbon ceremony announcement coming soon.  

 
 Director Zane asked about the bicycle capacity on the trains. Mr. Mansourian responded that 

when available the addition of the 3rd car has improved the bicycle capacity and have not 
received any complaints. As summer approaches SMART may anticipate additional riders and 
will need to evaluate at that time. 

 
Director Pahre asked for clarification of the zero shown on the bike locker graph on page 19 of 
the General Manager’s Report – March 2018. Programming and Grants Manager Joanne Parker 
responded that those are systemwide bike locker weekend rentals, which are not being utilized. 

 
6. Consent 

a. Approve Monthly Financial Reports 
b.  Approval of Dr. Mark Clementi Contract Amendment No. 3 
c.  Approve a Resolution for Designation of SMART Authorized Agents and Other Required 

Documents for State Low Carbon and Transit Operating Program Funds 
d.  Accept SMART’s 2017 Annual Report 
 

 Chair Fudge asked for Board and public comments on the proposed Consent Agenda.  
 

MOTION: Director Eddie moved approval of the Consent Agenda as presented. Director Lucan 
second. The motion carries 11-0-0 (Director Hillmer absent). 

  

Page 5 of 62



 

Page 4 of 6 

7. Approve a Resolution and Authorize the General Manager to Execute a Memorandum of 
Understanding between SMART, the Bay Area Toll Authority and Golden Gate Bridge Highway 
and Transportation District  

 
 General Manager Mansourian stated that the purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU) between SMART, the Bay Area Toll Authority (BATA) and Golden Gate Bridge Highway 
and Transportation District (GGB) is with respect to the recent passage of Senate Bill 595 (RM3). 
Senate Bill 595 authorized BATA to seek voter approval to increase the tolls on the state-owned 
toll bridges located on the Bay Area.    

 
On October 2005, GGB and SMART entered into an agreement for both parties to work together 
to outline the improvements to the San Rafael Transportation Center (SRTC). On April 2017, GGB 
and SMART entered into MOU that would provide a mechanism to fund and construct interim 
improvements to the SRTC. Since the passage of SB 595, GGB, BATA and SMART have negotiated 
a MOU that is consistent with SB595 and the April 2017 MOU as follows:  

 The parties recognize that the SRTC Interim Improvements (as described in the 2017 MOU) 
are suboptimal and temporary, and as such the SRTC Interim Improvements do not satisfy 
the need to relocate and construct a permanent SRTC facility to a accommodate reasonably 
anticipated levels of public transit bus and shuttle services in the long term. 

 The parties acknowledge that the passage of SB 595 and BATA’s January 24, 2018, action to 
place the toll increase before the voters, creates a potential source of $30 million in RM-3 
funding for the Project.  

 The parties acknowledge that the Project has not been fully scoped and environmentally 
cleared, so the cost of the Project may exceed the $30 million from RM3. SMART will 
cooperate and pursue additional potential revenue sources for the Project, including, but 
not limited to, revenues derived from proposed RM3, new State Transportation 
Improvement Program funds, and Federal transportation and infrastructure funding. 

 As owner of the permanent SRTC, GGB shall be the lead agency for the environmental review 
of the Project under the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”), as well as the lead 
agency for the design, development, and construction of the Project, so the District will 
prepare the environmental document for the Project and obtain all necessary permits and 
approvals. 

 SMART shall be a responsible agency for the purposes of environmental review of the Project 
under CEQA, so SMART will participate in the environmental process. 

 The parties agree that the selected alternative must be approved by the SMART Board of 
Directors. 

  The parties agree that GGB will be the recipient of RM3 funding from BATA for the Project, 
and BATA will not allocate RM3 monies for the construction of the Project absent the SMART 
Board of Directors’ approval of the selected alternative. 

 Any funds generated from the sale or redevelopment of the existing SRTC site, as applicable, 
will be reinvested in the Project, with the understanding that GGB shall own the new 
permanent SRTC facility. 

 SMART and GGB agree that entering into this MOU fully satisfies the requirement for a new 
funding agreement for relocation and construction of a permanent SRTC Facility. 

 

Page 6 of 62



 

Page 5 of 6 

The GGB Board of Directors approved the recommendations at their February 23, 2018 meeting. 
With your approval today the recommendations will be forwarded to BATA for their 
consideration at MTC May 9th and May 23rd Committee and Commission meeting.  
 
Directors’ Comments 

 Director Phillips thanked the General Manager for moving the SRTC project forward. He said that 
GGB hosted its first public meeting on March 20th to receive public input for the development of 
the New San Rafael Transit Center. One thing, I should have discussed with our Counsel option 
that the transit center maybe more than just a bus terminal and perhaps there are some 
possibilities of providing low cost or senior housing above the “transit center”. With this 
agreement there are four transit agencies that will ultimately decide the development of the 
SRTC. He asked what is SMART obligation in the event the project cost more than $30M. Mr. 
Mansourian responded that SMART does not have a final design and/or cost of the project at 
this time, however, your Board will have the final approval of the SRTC design and any associated 
cost. This agreement allows your board to approve the final design and cost. Director Phillips 
asked if the project cost is $50M what SMART’s obligation is. Mr. Mansourian responded that 
SMART cannot agree on any project design that is presented and there is limited funding 
available and all parties involved need to be aware. 

 
 Chair Fudge stated that a lean and functioning transit center can be built that meets everyone 

needs, however all parties to provide input. Director Phillips stated that’s it’s a very complicated 
project. 

 
MOTION: Director Phillips moved to Approve a Resolution and Authorize the General Manager 
to Execute a Memorandum of Understanding between SMART, the Bay Area Toll Authority and 
Golden Gate Bridge Highway and Transportation District as presented. Director Arnold second. 
The motion carries 11-0-0 (Director Hillmer absent). 
 

8. Approve a Resolution and Authorize the General Manager to Execute an Agreement with the 
Marin County Transit District, the Golden Gate Bridge Highway and Transportation District, and 
SMART to Share State Transit Assistance Population Based Funds 

 
 General Manager Mansourian stated the SB1 has provided transportation funds. One of the SB1 

programs is called the State Transit Assistance (STA) funds. The Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) has historically distributed STA population funds to transit operators in the 
Bay Area based upon a formula per MTC Resolution 3837. Marin County Transit District (MCTD) 
and GGB have been receiving STA population-base revenue in Marin County. SMART began 
operating the commuter rail service in Sonoma and Marin Counties and it is eligible recipient of 
STA population-base funds. MCTC, GGB and SMART have worked together and agreed to 
continue with the same formula. The formula shall apply once SMART has three years of 
ridership. 

 
The GGB Board of Directors approved the recommendations on February 23, 2018 and MCTD 
on March 5, 2018.  This Agreement only applies for Marin County funds. SMART is currently 

Page 7 of 62



 

Page 6 of 6 

working and negotiating with Sonoma County Transportation Agencies and other transit 
agencies and once the terms are finalize it will be presented to your Board for approval. 

 
MOTION: Director Mackenzie moved  to Approve a Resolution and Authorize the General 
Manager to Execute an Agreement with the Marin County Transit District, the Golden Gate 
Bridge Highway and Transportation District, and SMART to Share State Transit Assistance 
Population Based Funds as presented. Director Russell second. The motion carries 11-0-0. 
(Director Hillmer absent). 

 
 Public Comment on Closed Session  
 Duane Bellinger stated that it’s unclear what property will be discussed in closed session.  SMART 

has missed opportunities like the Brody property and Scott property. He suggested having a 
request for proposal for the Corona property. 

   
 Chair Fudge adjourned the Board to closed session at 2:17pm to discuss the following: 
 
9. Closed Session 

 a. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding whether to Initiate litigation pursuant to California 
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4); Number of possible cases: 1  

 b. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding anticipated litigation pursuant to California 
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2); Number of possible cases: 1- Lomas Partners, LLC 

 
10. Report Out of Closed Session 
  
 Chair Fudge reported out of closed session at 3:38pm on the following: 
 

 a. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding whether to Initiate litigation pursuant to California 
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4); Number of possible cases: 1  

  Report Out: No action was taken and direction given to staff. 

 b. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding anticipated litigation pursuant to California 
Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2); Number of possible cases: 1- Lomas Partners, LLC 

  Report Out: Direction given to staff.  
 
11. Next Regular Meeting Board of Directors, April 18, 2018 – 5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor, 

Petaluma, CA 94954 
 

12. Adjournment – Meeting adjourned at 3:40 p.m. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 Leticia Rosas-Mendoza 
 Clerk of the Board  

 Approved on: ___________________ 

Page 8 of 62



Page 9 of 62



Budget Report
FY 2017-18 Remaining 

 Budget Budget

Revenues

Administration
Sales/Use Taxes 26,089,840$        12,361,866$         13,727,974$        
Interest Earnings 295,000               367,462                 (72,462)                
Rent - Real Estate 394,088               298,884                 95,204                 
Miscellaneous Revenue 50,000                 1,762,950             (1,712,950)           

Subtotal 26,828,928          14,791,163           12,037,765          
Operations

Use of Fund Balance 5,518,270            5,518,270             -                       
Sales/Use Taxes 10,922,133          10,922,133           0                          
Fare & Parking Revenue 2,950,000            2,328,478             621,522               
State Grants 3,000,000            915,921                 2,084,079            
Charges For Services 30,000                 84,422                   (54,422)                

Subtotal 22,420,403          19,769,224           2,651,179            

Capital

Use of Fund Balance 20,538,185          20,538,185           -                       
Federal Funds 267,910               121,424                 146,486               
State Grants 278,096               19,873                   258,223               
Other Governments/ Misc. 4,663,350            968,846                 3,694,505            
Measure M 325,000               119,251                 205,749               
MTC - RM2 16,792,844          8,340,449             8,452,394            

Subtotal 42,865,385$        30,108,028$         12,757,357$        

92,114,716$        64,668,415$         27,446,301$        

Expenditures
Administration

Salaries & Benefits 5,031,910$          3,184,382$           1,847,528$          
Services & Supplies 6,512,347            2,599,778             3,912,570            
Debt Service/ Other Charges 14,216,444          14,216,444           -                       

Subtotal 25,760,701          20,000,603           5,760,098            

Operations
Salaries & Benefits 13,076,545          8,196,716             4,879,829            
Services & Supplies 7,720,769            3,343,496             4,377,274            
Buildings & Capital Improvements 1,023,089            280,371                 742,718               
Appropriations for Contingencies 600,000               -                         600,000               

Subtotal 22,420,403          11,820,583           10,599,820          

Capital (16,702,234)        10,032,645.57      
Salaries & Benefits 1,346,966            762,070                 584,896               
Services & Supplies 1,116,221            300,083                 816,138               
Other Charges 3,910,000            264,090                 3,645,910            
Land 2,839,000            2,018,550             820,450               
Buildings & Capital Improvements 185,000               170,000                 15,000                 
Machinery & Equipment 9,821,070            3,934,628             5,886,442            
Infrastructure 23,647,098          11,576,390           12,070,708          

Subtotal 42,865,355$        19,025,811$         23,839,545$        

Expenditure Total 91,046,459$        50,846,996$         40,199,463$        

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Monthly Finance Reports

Through March 2018

YTD

Revenue Total

Page 10 of 62



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Monthly Finance Reports

Through March 2018

Investment Report

Amount

Bond Reserve Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 17,072,500$         

Interest Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 4,021,956             

Project Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 373,715                 

Principal Fund

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 728,211                 

SMART Operating Accounts

Bank of Marin 13,448,528           

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 30,167,161           

65,812,073$         

Capital Project Report
Budget Actual Remaining

Phase 1 Operating Segment

Revenues 448,207,379$      444,665,117         3,542,262            
Expenditures 448,207,379        417,592,744         30,614,635          

Additional Railcar Purchase

Revenues 11,000,000          220,000                 10,780,000          
Expenditures 11,000,000          550,000                 10,450,000          

San Rafael to Larkspur Extension

Revenues 55,435,059          10,188,260           45,246,799          
Expenditures 55,435,059          11,891,901           43,543,158$        

Page 11 of 62



C
o

n
tr

ac
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

ca
l 

Y
ea

r 
17

-1
8 

P
ro

je
ct

ed
F

is
ca

l 
Y

ea
r 

17
/1

8 
   

A
ct

u
al

s-
T

o
-D

at
e

A.
J. 

Ja
ni

to
ria

l S
er

vi
ce

Ja
ni

to
ria

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 F

ac
ili

tie
s

$2
5,

00
0.

00
$1

3,
01

8.
00

A.
J. 

Ja
ni

to
ria

l S
er

vi
ce

SM
AR

T 
St

at
io

n 
Ja

ni
to

ria
l a

nd
 R

el
at

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$7
5,

55
0.

00
$5

1,
85

0.
00

Ad
ob

e 
As

so
ci

at
es

 In
c.

Re
al

 E
st

at
e 

Pr
op

er
ty

 S
up

po
rt

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

2,
00

0.
00

$7
,3

92
.0

0
AD

S 
Sy

st
em

 S
af

et
y 

Co
ns

ul
tin

g,
 L

LC
Sa

fe
ty

 P
ro

gr
am

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

Pr
ep

ar
ed

ne
ss

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$3
9,

91
2.

00
$0

.0
0

Ah
lb

or
n 

Fe
nc

e 
&

 S
te

el
, I

nc
.

Fe
nc

in
g 

an
d 

G
at

e 
In

st
al

la
tio

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
 a

t t
he

 R
O

C
$2

,8
15

.0
0

$2
,8

15
.0

0
Ah

lb
or

n 
Fe

nc
e 

&
 S

te
el

, I
nc

.
Cl

ai
m

-B
as

ed
 F

en
ci

ng
 R

ep
ai

r W
or

k
$3

,9
50

.0
0

$3
,9

50
.0

0
Al

co
ho

l &
 D

ru
g 

Te
st

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

, L
LC

D
O

T 
D

ru
g 

an
d 

Al
co

ho
l T

es
tin

g
$3

5,
00

0.
00

$7
,6

39
.0

0
Al

lia
nt

 In
su

ra
nc

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
In

su
ra

nc
e 

Br
ok

er
ag

e 
&

 R
is

k 
M

an
ag

em
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
$7

1,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
Am

er
iK

iw
i, 

LL
C

Co
nt

ai
ne

r L
ift

in
g 

an
d 

Tr
an

sp
or

tin
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$5
,0

00
.0

0
$4

,4
75

.0
0

Ar
am

ar
k 

U
ni

fo
rm

 S
er

vi
ce

s
Em

pl
oy

ee
 U

ni
fo

rm
 P

ro
vi

de
r a

nd
 C

le
an

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
e

$6
0,

00
0.

00
$1

3,
96

3.
00

Ar
ea

 W
es

t E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l, 
In

c
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
Su

pp
or

t S
er

vi
ce

s
$4

4,
49

1.
00

$0
.0

0
As

bu
ry

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
(A

ES
)

Re
cy

cl
in

g 
&

 D
is

po
sa

l S
er

vi
ce

 fo
r U

se
d 

O
il,

 F
ue

l F
ilt

er
s,

 R
ag

s,
 a

nd
 R

el
at

ed
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t
$1

1,
43

9.
00

$2
,6

00
.0

0
Ba

rb
ie

r S
ec

ur
ity

 G
ro

up
Se

cu
rit

y 
G

ua
rd

/P
at

ro
l S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
5,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

Be
nd

er
 R

os
en

th
al

, I
nc

.
Re

al
 E

st
at

e 
Su

pp
or

t S
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r L
ar

ks
pu

r E
xt

en
si

on
$9

8,
78

0.
00

$3
6,

59
4.

00
Be

tt
in

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

ns
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 In
ve

st
ig

at
io

ns
$1

0,
00

0.
00

$7
,0

23
.0

0
Bi

g 
Ca

t A
dv

er
tis

in
g

D
ig

ita
l A

dv
er

tis
em

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
8,

00
0.

00
$1

3,
50

0.
00

Bi
gg

s 
Ca

rd
os

a 
As

so
ci

at
es

, I
nc

.
En

gi
ne

er
in

g 
D

es
ig

n 
an

d 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
Su

pp
or

t f
or

 P
ay

ra
n 

to
 S

ou
th

po
in

t M
ul

ti-
U

se
 P

at
hw

ay
$3

25
,0

00
.0

0
$2

64
,2

26
.0

0
Br

ad
fo

rd
 D

. A
nd

er
se

n 
db

a 
An

de
rs

en
 W

in
do

w
 T

in
tin

g
An

ti-
G

ra
ff

iti
 F

ilm
 a

nd
 W

in
do

w
 T

in
tin

g 
In

st
al

la
tio

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
 fo

r S
ta

tio
ns

$1
,8

50
.0

0
$1

,8
50

.0
0

Bu
lle

t G
ua

rd
D

es
ig

n 
an

d 
In

st
al

la
tio

n 
of

 S
af

et
y 

G
la

ss
$1

0,
80

4.
00

$1
0,

80
4.

00
Bu

rk
e,

 W
ill

ia
m

s 
&

 S
or

en
se

n,
 L

LP
Li

tig
at

io
n 

Su
pp

or
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
29

,3
48

.0
0

$1
22

,9
01

.0
0

Ca
l A

cc
es

si
bi

lit
y,

 In
c.

AD
A 

Co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

Su
pp

or
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
0,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

CA
LO

PP
S 

- C
ity

 o
f F

os
te

r C
ity

In
te

rn
et

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t W
eb

si
te

 - 
CA

LO
PP

S
$2

,0
00

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Ca

sc
ad

e 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 C

en
te

r
AE

D
 P

ro
gr

am
 M

an
ag

em
en

t
$6

,6
10

.0
0

$6
,6

10
.0

0
Ce

nt
ur

y 
U

rb
an

Re
al

 E
st

at
e 

Ad
vi

so
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

9,
95

0.
00

$2
,8

13
.0

0
Ce

rt
ifi

ed
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t G

ro
up

Te
m

po
ra

ry
 S

ta
ff

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$3
6,

47
0.

00
$2

0,
91

9.
00

Ci
nq

ui
ni

 &
 P

as
sa

rin
o,

 In
c.

La
nd

 S
ur

ve
yi

ng
 a

nd
 R

el
at

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
5,

00
0.

00
$1

,2
45

.0
0

CM
C 

Tr
af

fic
 C

on
tr

ol
 S

pe
ci

al
is

ts
Fl

ag
gi

ng
, T

ra
ff

ic
 C

on
tr

ol
, a

nd
 R

el
at

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
54

,7
62

.0
0

$2
20

,8
58

.0
0

Co
at

es
 F

ie
ld

 S
er

vi
ce

, I
nc

.
Re

al
 E

st
at

e 
Ac

qu
is

iti
on

 a
nd

 R
el

oc
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$2
4,

22
7.

00
$1

1,
00

4.
00

D
av

id
 R

ze
pi

ns
ki

 &
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s
Tr

an
si

t M
ar

ke
t, 

Fa
re

 A
na

ly
si

s,
 C

oo
rd

in
at

io
n

$1
0,

00
0.

00
$3

06
.0

0
D

av
id

 T
at

te
rs

al
l &

 C
o.

Re
al

 E
st

at
e 

Ap
pr

ai
sa

l S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

0,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
D

av
id

 T
at

te
rs

al
l &

 C
o.

 R
ea

l E
st

at
e 

Ad
vi

so
ry

 S
er

vi
ce

Re
al

 E
st

at
e 

Ap
pr

ai
sa

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r L
ar

ks
pu

r E
xt

en
si

on
$1

0,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
D

eA
ng

el
o 

Br
ot

he
rs

, L
LC

 (D
BI

 S
er

vi
ce

s)
Ve

ge
ta

tio
n 

Co
nt

ro
l S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
4,

62
7.

00
$2

0,
57

9.
00

D
en

no
 E

nt
er

pr
is

es
RO

W
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 &

 W
ee

d 
Ab

at
em

en
t

$8
9,

42
0.

00
$6

5,
79

5.
00

D
G

D
 F

ee
ds

 (d
ba

 F
riz

el
le

 E
no

s 
Fe

ed
s)

D
us

t S
up

pr
es

si
on

 S
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r D
ow

nt
ow

n 
Pe

ta
lu

m
a 

an
d 

Ai
rp

or
t B

lv
d 

Pa
rk

 &
 R

id
e 

Lo
ts

$3
,0

00
.0

0
$2

,7
22

.0
0

D
ie

go
 T

ru
ck

 R
ep

ai
r

To
w

in
g,

 R
ec

ov
er

ie
s,

 D
em

ol
iti

on
, a

nd
 R

el
at

ed
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
,0

00
.0

0
$1

,0
00

.0
0

D
r. 

M
ar

k 
Cl

em
en

ti
Pr

e-
Em

pl
oy

m
en

t P
sy

ch
ol

og
ic

al
 E

va
lu

at
io

ns
$2

5,
91

0.
00

$1
5,

84
8.

00
D

ua
ne

 M
or

ris
, L

LP
An

ti-
H

ar
as

sm
en

t T
ra

in
in

g
$1

,5
00

.0
0

$0
.0

0
eL

oc
k 

Te
ch

no
lo

gi
es

, L
LC

St
at

io
n 

Bi
ke

 L
oc

ke
rs

 a
nd

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$0

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Em

pi
re

 C
le

an
er

s
U

ni
fo

rm
 D

ry
-C

le
an

in
g,

 L
au

nd
er

in
g,

 a
nd

 R
el

at
ed

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$4

1,
87

3.
00

$2
3,

03
1.

00
Em

te
c 

Co
ns

ul
tin

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
, L

LC
O

ra
cl

e 
Ac

co
un

tin
g 

Sy
st

em
 S

up
po

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$6
5,

00
0.

00
$7

,2
00

.0
0

eP
at

h 
Le

ar
ni

ng
, I

nc
.

Bu
si

ne
ss

 T
ra

in
in

g 
Li

br
ar

y
$7

,5
63

.0
0

$0
.0

0
eP

at
h 

Le
ar

ni
ng

, I
nc

.
Cl

ou
d-

Ba
se

d 
Tr

ai
ni

ng
 /

 L
ea

rn
in

g 
M

an
ag

em
en

t S
of

tw
ar

e
$6

,1
80

.0
0

$6
,1

80
.0

0
Ev

er
br

id
ge

, I
nc

.
N

ix
le

 C
om

pu
te

r S
of

tw
ar

e 
Al

er
t S

ys
te

m
$1

5,
66

2.
00

$1
5,

66
2.

00
G

eo
rg

e 
H

ill
s 

Co
m

pa
ny

, I
nc

.
Th

ird
 P

ar
ty

 C
la

im
s 

Ad
m

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$6
0,

00
0.

00
$1

,6
80

.0
0

G
H

D
, I

nc
.

SW
PP

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e,

 A
ut

oC
AD

 M
an

ag
em

en
t, 

Tr
af

fic
 a

nd
 H

yd
ra

ul
ic

 A
na

ly
si

s 
fo

r C
P4

$1
82

,3
73

.0
0

$1
5,

43
9.

00
G

ol
de

n 
G

at
e 

Br
id

ge
, H

ig
hw

ay
 a

nd
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n 
D

is
tr

ic
t

W
ee

ke
nd

 B
us

 S
er

vi
ce

 b
et

w
ee

n 
Sa

n 
Ra

fa
el

 T
ra

ns
it 

Ce
nt

er
 a

nd
 L

ar
ks

pu
r F

er
ry

$4
3,

57
8.

00
$1

3,
30

9.
00

G
ol

de
n 

G
at

e 
Br

id
ge

, H
ig

hw
ay

 a
nd

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
at

io
n 

D
is

tr
ic

t
Cu

st
om

er
 S

er
vi

ce
 S

up
po

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
10

,7
80

.0
0

$1
30

,1
31

.0
0

Co
nt

ra
ct

 S
um

m
ar

y
Ac

tiv
e 

Co
nt

ra
ct

s a
s 

of
 M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 2
01

8

Pa
ge

 1
 o

f 3

Page 12 of 62



C
o

n
tr

ac
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

ca
l 

Y
ea

r 
17

-1
8 

P
ro

je
ct

ed
F

is
ca

l 
Y

ea
r 

17
/1

8 
   

A
ct

u
al

s-
T

o
-D

at
e

G
P 

Cr
an

e 
&

 H
oi

st
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Ca
l/

O
SH

A 
Cr

an
e 

In
sp

ec
tio

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
$1

1,
05

0.
00

$9
00

.0
0

G
ra

ni
cu

s,
 In

c.
M

ed
ia

 S
tr

ea
m

in
g 

&
 In

te
rn

et
 B

ro
ad

ca
st

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$8
,5

00
.0

0
$5

,8
95

.0
0

H
an

fo
rd

 A
.R

.C
.

Im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

La
s 

G
al

lin
as

 C
re

ek
 R

ip
ar

ia
n 

En
ha

nc
em

en
t P

la
n

$1
08

,6
86

.0
0

$0
.0

0
H

ol
la

nd
 C

om
pa

ny
Tr

ac
k 

G
eo

m
et

ry
 a

nd
 M

ea
su

re
m

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$3
0,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

H
ul

ch
er

 S
er

vi
ce

s,
 In

c.
D

er
ai

lm
en

t &
 H

az
m

at
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$4
0,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

IC
F 

Jo
ne

s 
&

 S
to

ke
s,

 In
c.

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l P
er

m
itt

in
g 

M
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$3
60

,3
20

.0
0

$1
68

,5
63

.0
0

In
te

lle
tr

ac
e,

 In
c.

In
te

rn
et

/C
el

lu
la

r T
ow

er
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$3
7,

53
8.

00
$2

2,
00

0.
00

In
te

lli
ge

nt
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
So

lu
tio

ns
, I

nc
.

M
ax

im
o 

M
M

S 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

Su
pp

or
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
22

,1
01

.0
0

$8
9,

95
4.

00
Ja

m
es

 F
la

ge
ol

le
t

Le
ga

l S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

09
,3

25
.0

0
$6

7,
66

5.
00

Jo
hn

 Z
an

zi
Fi

re
 a

nd
 L

ife
 S

af
et

y 
Pl

an
ni

ng
$1

0,
00

0.
00

$4
,9

88
.0

0
Kr

eb
s 

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

, I
nc

Pr
oj

ec
t C

os
t M

an
ag

em
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

,0
00

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Le

et
e 

G
en

er
at

or
s

G
en

er
at

or
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
$4

,0
00

.0
0

$8
57

.0
0

Le
sc

ur
e 

Co
m

pa
ny

, I
nc

.
Fu

el
 R

ee
l R

em
ov

al
 a

nd
 C

ap
pi

ng
 o

f F
ue

lin
g 

O
ut

le
ts

$2
4,

72
5.

00
$2

4,
72

5.
00

LT
K 

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

Ve
hi

cl
e 

an
d 

Sy
st

em
s 

D
es

ig
n 

an
d 

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
,2

86
,2

25
.0

0
$7

80
,7

24
.0

0
M

an
ag

ed
 H

ea
lth

 N
et

w
or

k
Em

pl
oy

ee
 A

ss
is

ta
nc

e 
Pr

og
ra

m
 (E

AP
) S

er
vi

ce
s

$4
,5

00
.0

0
$2

,8
54

.0
0

M
as

ab
i L

LC
SM

AR
T 

M
ob

ile
 T

ic
ke

tin
g 

Pi
lo

t P
ro

je
ct

$6
4,

00
0.

00
$3

7,
30

0.
00

M
ax

Ac
ce

l
Co

m
pl

ia
nc

e 
M

an
ag

em
en

t S
of

tw
ar

e 
D

es
ig

n/
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n/

As
se

t M
an

ag
em

en
t

$1
4,

50
0.

00
$9

,5
00

.0
0

M
az

e 
&

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
ud

it 
Se

rv
ic

es
$4

0,
54

0.
00

$3
8,

56
0.

00
M

G
ro

dn
er

, L
LC

Pr
oj

ec
t M

an
ag

em
en

t S
er

vi
ce

s
$9

9,
57

5.
00

$3
5,

57
3.

00
M

ili
tu

s,
 In

c.
Di

gi
ta

l S
ec

ur
ity

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t

$3
0,

00
0.

00
$9

,0
00

.0
0

N
et

sp
ee

d 
So

lu
tio

ns
, I

nc
.

Av
ay

a 
IP

 O
ff

ic
e 

Su
pp

or
t a

nd
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l S

er
vi

ce
s 

at
 P

et
al

um
a,

 R
O

C,
 a

nd
 M

O
W

$5
,8

00
.0

0
$5

,8
00

.0
0

N
et

sp
ee

d 
So

lu
tio

ns
, I

nc
.

Av
ay

a 
IP

 O
ff

ic
e 

Su
pp

or
t a

nd
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l S

er
vi

ce
s 

at
 R

ob
la

r
$1

,4
17

.0
0

$1
,4

17
.0

0
N

et
w

ov
en

 In
c.

D
es

ig
n 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e 

fo
r D

oc
um

en
t a

nd
 P

ro
je

ct
 M

an
ag

em
en

t T
ec

hn
ol

og
y

$4
6,

05
0.

00
$2

8,
90

1.
00

N
or

th
 B

ay
 S

AP
 S

er
vi

ce
s

Su
bs

ta
nc

e 
Ab

us
e 

Pr
of

es
si

on
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$5

,0
00

.0
0

$6
00

.0
0

N
os

sa
m

an
 L

LP
Le

ga
l S

er
vi

ce
s 

- R
ai

lro
ad

 R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

Is
su

es
 &

 T
ra

ns
it 

Ca
pi

ta
l P

ro
je

ct
s

$7
5,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

O
cc

up
at

io
na

l H
ea

lth
 C

en
te

rs
 o

f C
A

Pr
e-

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t E

va
lu

at
io

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
$9

,4
21

.0
0

$7
,3

37
.0

0
O

jo
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y,
 In

c.
Se

cu
rit

y 
Ca

m
er

a 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
$5

,0
00

.0
0

$0
.0

0
O

ra
cl

e
Fu

si
on

 A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

So
ft

w
ar

e 
&

 H
os

tin
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$4
2,

70
7.

00
$3

2,
04

0.
00

Pa
rk

s 
El

ec
tr

ic
O

n-
Ca

ll 
El

ec
tr

ic
al

 C
on

tr
ac

tin
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$1
0,

00
0.

00
$6

,0
85

.0
0

Pa
ro

di
 In

ve
st

ig
at

iv
e 

So
lu

tio
ns

Pr
e-

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t B

ac
kg

ro
un

d 
In

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$2
0,

35
0.

00
$1

3,
00

0.
00

Pa
yc

he
x

Pa
yr

ol
l P

ro
ce

ss
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$3

1,
00

0.
00

$2
1,

96
4.

00
Pl

at
in

um
 A

dv
is

or
s,

 L
LC

St
at

e 
Le

gi
sl

at
iv

e 
Ad

vo
ca

cy
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$1
20

,0
00

.0
0

$7
0,

00
0.

00
Po

rt
ol

a 
Sy

st
em

s,
 In

c.
SM

AR
T 

St
at

io
n 

N
et

w
or

k 
Co

nf
ig

ur
at

io
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$1
85

,0
06

.0
0

$5
9,

04
0.

00
Pu

bl
ic

 F
in

an
ci

al
 M

an
ge

m
en

t, 
In

c.
Ar

bi
tr

ag
e 

Re
ba

te
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

$2
,0

00
.0

0
$0

.0
0

Pu
bl

ic
 F

in
an

ci
al

 M
an

ge
m

en
t, 

In
c.

Fi
na

nc
ia

l A
dv

is
or

y 
Se

rv
ic

es
$5

,0
00

.0
0

$0
.0

0
Ra

ilP
ro

s,
 In

c.
Pr

of
es

si
on

al
 E

ng
in

ee
rin

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
 fo

r L
ar

ks
pu

r E
xt

en
si

on
$3

33
,0

00
.0

0
$2

04
,8

38
.0

0
Re

yf
f E

le
ct

ric
 C

om
pa

ny
O

n-
Ca

ll 
El

ec
tr

ic
ia

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
$6

,8
20

.0
0

$2
,4

11
.0

0
Se

rv
Pr

o 
of

 L
ak

e 
M

en
do

ci
no

 a
nd

 S
on

om
a 

Co
un

ty
Bi

oh
az

ar
d 

Cl
ea

n-
U

p 
an

d 
H

az
m

at
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
4,

36
0.

00
$2

,3
56

.0
0

Sh
im

m
ic

k 
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
Co

, I
nc

.
D

/B
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

of
 IO

S2
, H

ay
st

ac
k,

 O
M

F,
 S

ta
tio

n 
Fi

ni
sh

es
 a

nd
 P

at
hw

ay
$3

,2
92

,8
13

.0
0

$3
,1

34
,6

57
.0

0
So

no
m

a 
Co

un
ty

 F
le

et
 O

pe
ra

tio
n 

D
iv

is
io

n
N

on
-R

ev
en

ue
 F

le
et

 M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$7

5,
00

0.
00

$1
,7

54
.0

0
So

no
m

a 
Co

un
ty

 P
ro

ba
tio

n 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t
Ri

gh
t-

of
-W

ay
 V

eg
et

at
io

n 
Co

nt
ro

l, 
Br

us
h 

an
d 

D
eb

ris
 R

em
ov

al
, a

nd
 H

om
el

es
s 

Ca
m

p 
Cl

ea
n-

up
$4

2,
16

0.
00

$1
0,

02
0.

00
Sp

er
ry

 R
ai

l S
er

vi
ce

Ra
il 

Fl
aw

 D
et

ec
tio

n 
Se

rv
ic

es
$1

0,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
SP

TJ
 C

on
su

lti
ng

N
et

w
or

k 
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

, S
ec

ur
ity

, M
ig

ra
tio

n 
an

d 
Se

tu
p 

Se
rv

ic
es

$1
33

,4
16

.0
0

$8
6,

06
3.

00
St

ac
y 

an
d 

W
itb

ec
k/

H
er

zo
g,

 JV
D

es
ig

n/
 B

ui
ld

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
of

 C
iv

il,
 T

ra
ck

 &
 S

tr
uc

tu
re

s 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 o

f I
O

S-
1

$1
,4

00
,3

44
.0

0
$6

04
,0

68
.0

0
St

ac
y 

an
d 

W
itb

ec
k/

H
er

zo
g,

 JV
D

es
ig

n/
Bu

ild
 C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

of
 C

iv
il,

 T
ra

ck
 &

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
s 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 o
f L

ar
ks

pu
r E

xt
en

si
on

$1
5,

30
0,

00
0.

00
$7

,3
90

,9
66

.0
0

St
er

ic
yc

le
, I

nc
.

M
ed

ic
al

 W
as

te
 P

ic
k-

U
p 

an
d 

D
is

po
sa

l S
er

vi
ce

s
$1

,9
18

.0
0

$0
.0

0
St

ev
e 

Ta
yl

or
 E

xc
av

at
io

n
Ex

ca
va

tio
n,

 A
sp

ha
lt,

 a
nd

 R
el

at
ed

 C
on

tr
ac

tin
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$3
5,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

Pa
ge

 2
 o

f 3

Page 13 of 62



C
o

n
tr

ac
to

r
S

c
o

p
e

F
is

ca
l 

Y
ea

r 
17

-1
8 

P
ro

je
ct

ed
F

is
ca

l 
Y

ea
r 

17
/1

8 
   

A
ct

u
al

s-
T

o
-D

at
e

St
rip

e 
N

 S
ea

l
Pa

in
tin

g,
 S

te
nc

ili
ng

, a
nd

 A
sp

ha
lt 

Se
al

in
g 

Se
rv

ic
es

$1
3,

38
6.

00
$9

,2
34

.0
0

ST
V,

 In
c.

O
n-

Ca
ll 

Ra
ilr

oa
d 

Br
id

ge
 In

sp
ec

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

$5
0,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

Su
e 

Ev
an

s
Re

al
 E

st
at

e 
Su

pp
or

t S
er

vi
ce

s
$5

0,
00

0.
00

$0
.0

0
Su

m
ito

m
o 

Co
rp

or
at

io
n

M
an

uf
ac

tu
re

 &
 D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 R

ai
l V

eh
ic

le
s

$8
,9

78
,3

18
.0

0
$3

,4
18

,4
66

.0
0

Su
m

m
it 

Si
gn

al
, I

nc
.

Em
er

ge
nc

y 
Ca

ll-
O

ut
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r T

ra
ck

 a
nd

 S
ig

na
ls

$1
0,

00
0.

00
$0

.0
0

Th
e 

G
BS

 G
ro

up
In

te
rn

et
 C

on
ne

ct
iv

ity
 (W

i-F
i) 

fo
r S

M
AR

T 
Tr

ai
ns

$3
39

,0
08

.0
0

$1
89

,8
63

.0
0

U
ni

te
d 

M
ec

ha
ni

ca
l I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d

H
VA

C 
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

at
 S

M
AR

T 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s

$2
4,

99
4.

00
$9

45
.0

0
U

ni
te

d 
M

ec
ha

ni
ca

l I
nc

or
po

ra
te

d
H

VA
C 

In
st

al
la

tio
n 

Se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r S

M
AR

T 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s

$1
6,

83
2.

00
$1

6,
83

2.
00

U
ta

h 
Tr

an
si

t A
ut

ho
rit

y
D

M
U

 W
he

el
 T

ru
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
$1

11
,1

00
.0

0
$3

3,
93

1.
00

Va
n 

Sc
oy

oc
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s
Fe

de
ra

l L
eg

is
la

tiv
e 

Ad
vo

ca
cy

 S
er

vi
ce

s
$5

1,
00

0.
00

$2
8,

00
0.

00
Ve

nT
ek

 T
ra

ns
it 

In
c.

Fa
re

 V
en

di
ng

 M
ac

hi
ne

 O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 a

nd
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$2
25

,0
00

.0
0

$1
29

,0
44

.0
0

Vi
ev

u
Cl

ou
d-

Ba
se

d 
St

or
ag

e 
of

 S
ec

ur
ity

 D
at

a
$7

20
.0

0
$7

20
.0

0
W

BE
D

es
ig

n 
an

d 
In

st
al

la
tio

n 
of

 S
ec

ur
ity

 E
qu

ip
m

en
t

$9
5,

08
8.

00
$8

8,
78

6.
00

W
BE

Tr
ai

n 
W

as
h 

CC
TV

 In
st

al
la

tio
n

$1
4,

98
0.

00
$1

4,
98

0.
00

W
BE

Ex
is

tin
g 

CC
TV

 S
ys

te
m

 O
n-

Ca
ll 

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

$3
5,

00
0.

00
$1

0,
88

4.
00

W
ill

ia
m

 C
am

pa
gn

a
D

is
ab

ili
ty

 A
cc

es
s 

Co
ns

ul
ta

nt
 S

er
vi

ce
s

$3
0,

00
0.

00
$9

,8
75

.0
0

To
ta
ls

$3
5,

86
3,

01
7.

00
$1

8,
08

0,
86

6.
00

Pa
ge

 3
 o

f 3

*A
ct

ua
ls-

To
-D

at
e 

in
cl

ud
es

 in
vo

ic
es

 th
at

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

as
 o

f M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

01
8,

 b
ut

 m
ay

 n
ot

 h
av

e 
be

en
 p

ro
ce

ss
ed

 in
 S

M
AR

T'
s F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ys

te
m

.

Page 14 of 62



Page 15 of 62



James Flageollet 
Sixth Amendment 

LG-PS-13-002 

 

Page 1 of 2 

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

AND JAMES FLAGEOLLET 

 

This SIXTH AMENDMENT dated as of April 18, 2018 (the “Sixth Amendment”) 

to the Agreement by and between the SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT (“SMART”) and JAMES FLAGEOLLET (“CONSULTANT”), dated as of 

March 6, 2013 (the “Original Agreement,” and as supplemented and amended by the 

First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, and this Sixth Amendment, the “Agreement”).   

 

RECITALS 

 

 WHEREAS, SMART and CONSULTANT previously entered into the Original 

Agreement to provide legal services in support of the District Counsel; and 

 

WHEREAS, SMART desires to amend the Agreement to increase the not-to-

exceed amount by $100,000, for a total not to exceed amount of $805,000, and extend the 

term until June 30, 2019. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals set forth above and the 

covenants contained herein, it is mutually agreed by and between the parties that: 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. ARTICLE 2.  “COMPENSATION” is hereby deleted and replaced in its 

entirety with the following: 

 

“For all services and incidental costs required hereunder, Consultant shall be paid 

$130 per hour, all inclusive.  Provided however that the total payments hereunder 

shall not exceed $805,000.  SMART shall render payment of approved invoices 

within 30 days of receipt.” 

 

2. Section 3. “TERM” is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety with the 

following 

 

“The term of this Agreement shall remain in effect until June 30, 2019, unless 

terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.” 

 

3. Except to the extent the Agreement is specifically amended or supplemented 

hereby, the Agreement, together with all supplements, amendments and exhibits 

thereto is, and shall continue to be, in full force and effect as originally executed, 

and nothing contained herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate, or 

otherwise affect any provision of the Agreement. 

 

 

Page 16 of 62



James Flageollet 
Sixth Amendment 

LG-PS-13-002 

 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Sixth 

Amendment as set forth below. 

 

 

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT 

 

 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 

               Farhad Mansourian, General Manager  

  

   

 

     JAMES FLAGEOLLET 
 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 
 

         Its __________________________________ 

 

 

                                                          

                                                               APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 

 

Dated: _______________                     By______________________________ 

                                                                      District Counsel 

 

Page 17 of 62



Page 18 of 62



Page 1 of 4 

COOPERATIVE FUNDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY OF MARIN AND 
THE SMART-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

This Agreement is made and entered into as of this _____ day of April, 2018, by and between the 
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY OF MARIN herein referred to as “TAM” and the SONOMA-MARIN 
AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT hereinafter referred to as “SMART”.  

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS,  The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) re-directed RM2 funding from the 
Highway 101 Greenbrae Corridor Improvement Project (Project No. 11.1) to Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Improvements referred to as the North/South Greenway Gap Closure Project (Project No. 11.5); 
and 

WHEREAS, TAM approved an implementation plan that splits the project into a northern segment 
(CMFC to POC) and a southern segment (Corte Madera Creek to Wornum Drive) in an effort to 
accelerate project delivery; and 

WHEREAS, TAM will act as the project sponsor for both segments and the implementation agency 
for environmental and design of the northern segment and the County of Marin will act as the 
implementation agency for the southern segment; and  

WHEREAS, MTC has allocated $2.6M of RM2 funds for environmental and preliminary engineering 
(both northern and southern segments), and allocated $1.5M for design of the northern segment; 
and  

WHEREAS, As a condition of the allocation MTC required, and project partners supported, a 
property title search and boundary survey of SMART right-of-way (R/W) which has been used to 
define project parameters and constraints within the southern segment; and  

WHEREAS, SMART has in good faith considered the use of a portion of their R/W for the purpose 
of constructing, maintaining, and operating a publically accessible multi-use path within the 
southern segment; and 

WHEREAS, A preliminary path alignment has been established for the southern segment that 
generally follows the existing railroad tracks and is based, in part, using the results of the boundary 
and title search along with the known environmental constraints; and  

WHEREAS, SMART has historically granted an opportunity for private parties to lease portions of 
the R/W and under the proposed alignment some of the leases will be impacted to some degree; 
and 

WHEREAS, SMART and the County have assessed the financial loss of renegotiating or 
terminating existing land use leases over a twenty-five year period and determined the financial lost 
to be $730,000; and  

WHEREAS, SMART will require the path be removed at the time the southern rail extension is 
implemented.   SMART and the County have determined the cost to remove the path at a future 
date to be $120,000; and 

Page 19 of 62



Page 2 of 4 

WHEREAS, TAM has submitted a request to MTC for an allocation of RM2 funds to resolve the 
SMART R/W issues in the amount of $850,000 to compensate SMART for future lost lease revenue 
and for the future cost of removing the multi-use path from SMART R/W; and 

WHEREAS, As a condition of the allocation MTC required (1) TAM provide a letter recognizing 
SMART may remove the path in the future should rail be extended south, (2) SMART agrees to 
authorize the use of the R/W for the purpose of constructing a multi-use path and (3) TAM and 
SMART enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) regarding payment  compensating 
SMART for future lost lease revenue, future removal of path in the event SMART extends rail south 
of Larkspur, and absolving SMART of responsibility of maintaining path until such time as rail 
service begins and (4) any savings from the North-South Greenway project are to be applied to the 
permanent (not interim) relocation/facility for the San Rafael Transit Center, and  

 NOW, therefore, as a valuable consideration the parties hereto agree as follows: 

TAM Agrees that it shall: 

1. Provide $850,000 of RM2 funding to resolve the SMART R/W issues consisting of lost
lease revenue over a twenty five year period in the amount of $730,000, and $120,000
to remove the path in the future to accommodate rail extension to the south.

2. Recognize and support SMART’s right to remove the path at a future date when SMART
determines this R/W is needed for their operations.

3. Recognize the use of the SMART R/W to operate and maintain the path will be at no
cost to SMART.

SMART Agrees that it shall: 

1. Enter into this MOU authorizing the use of a portion of the R/W for the purpose of

constructing, maintaining and operating a multi-use path within the southern segment.

The MOU must be substantially completed with all parties’ conceptual agreement prior to

proceeding into final design.

2. Acknowledge compensation for future lost lease revenue in the amount of $730,000 is
based on estimated impacts of likely affected lease areas.

3. Acknowledge compensation to remove the path in the future in the amount of $120,000
shall be final and no future demand for additional payment will be made.

4. Submit an invoice for payment to TAM for R/W impacts and future path removal costs.
The transfer of funds shall occur at the time SMART notifies lessees to vacate SMART
R/W as mutually agreed by parties.

Page 20 of 62



Page 3 of 4 

1. TERM: This AGREEMENT shall terminate upon completion of the funding obligations
described above for R/W activities or at which time TAM abandons the southern
segment alignment on SMART R/W, whichever is earlier.

2. MODIFICATION: This AGREEMENT, constitutes the entire AGREEMENT, supersedes
all prior written or oral understandings, and may not be extended past the
aforementioned term without written consent from both parties

3. SMART shall indemnify and hold harmless TAM, its Commissioners, officers, agents and
employees from any and all claims, demands, injury, and/or liability, direct or indirect,
incurred by reason of any act or omission of SMART, its officers, agents, employees,
and sub-contractors, under or in connection with this funding agreement.  SMART
agrees at its own cost, expense, and risk, to defend any and all claims, actions, suits, or
other legal proceedings brought or instituted against TAM, its Commissioners, officers,
agents, and employees, or any of them, arising out of such act or omission, and to pay
and satisfy any resulting judgments.

4. TAM shall indemnify and hold harmless SMART, its Supervisors, officers, agents and
employees from any and all claims, demands, injury, and/or liability, direct or indirect,
incurred by reason of any act or omission of TAM, its officers, agents, employees, and
sub-contractors, under or in connection with this funding agreement.  TAM agrees at its
own cost, expense, and risk, to defend any and all claims, actions, suits, or other legal
proceedings brought or instituted against SMART, it’s Supervisors, officers, agents, and
employees, or any of them, arising out of such act or omission, and to pay and satisfy
any resulting judgments.

5. SMART AND TAM indemnify and hold harmless MTC, its Commissioners,
representatives, agents, and employees from and against all claims, injury, suits,
demands, liability, losses, damages, and expenses, whether direct or indirect (including
any and all costs and expenses in connection therewith), incurred by reason of any
CEQA action, act or failure to act of SMART or TAM their officers, employees or agents,
or subcontractors or any of them in connection with their performance of services under
this allocation of RM2 funds. In the event any CEQA action stops the project, SMART
and TAM agree to return such allocated funds to MTC for alternative allocation that shall
be with the discretion of MTC.

6. SEVERABILITY: Should any part of this AGREEMENT be declared unconstitutional,
invalid, or beyond the authority of either party to enter into or carry out, such decisions
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this AGREEMENT, which shall continue in
full force and effect, provided that the remainder of this AGREEMENT can, absent the
excised portion, be reasonably interpreted to give effect to the intentions of the parties.

7. TERMINATION: This AGREEMENT will be subject to termination as follows: a) for
breach of any obligation, covenant or condition by the other party, upon notice to the
breaching party, or b) by mutual consent of both parties.

It is Mutually Agreed: 

Page 21 of 62



Page 4 of 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this AGREEMENT on the day first 
written above. 

Transportation Authority of Marin Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

______________________________ __________________________________ 
Dianne Steinhauser  Farhad Mansourian 
Executive Director  General Manager 

Page 22 of 62



Page 23 of 62



Page 24 of 62



 Resolution No. 2018-09  
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

 April 18, 2018 
 

Page 1 of 2 

 
 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF A CLAIM FOR STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE FUNDS 
AND DESIGNATION OF THE GENERAL MANAGER AS THE AUTHORIZED AGENT TO SUBMIT AND 
EXECUTE ALL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR STATE TRANSIT ASSISTANCE FUNDS ON BEHALF OF 
THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEARS 2017-18 AND 2018-19  

 
WHEREAS, the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) is an eligible project 

sponsor and may receive funding from State Transit Assistance (STA) Funds, including STA 
Revenue Funds (PUC 99314), STA Population Funds (PUC 99313), STA Revenue State of Good 
Repair Funds (PUC 99314), and STA Population State of Good Repair Funds (PUC 99313) for 
transit projects; and 

 
WHEREAS, the state and regional statutes related to these state transit funds require 

implementing agencies to abide by various state and regional regulations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) is the regional agency 

responsible for disbursement of STA funds, including the STA State of Good Repair funds 
programmed by the State Department of Transportation (Caltrans) and STA Revenue Funds 
apportioned by the State Controller’s Office; and 

 
WHEREAS, MTC has developed guidelines for the purpose of administering and 

distributing STA funds to eligible project sponsors, described in MTC’s Annual Fund Application 
Manual; and 

 
WHEREAS, SMART wishes to delegate authorization to submit and execute all required 

STA claim documents and any amendments thereto to the SMART General Manager, or 
designee; and 

 
 WHEREAS, SMART wishes to implement the SMART Commuter Rail Operations Project 

for Fiscal Years 2017-18, 2018-19 and beyond; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE Board of Directors of the SMART District 

hereby  
1. Authorizes the submittal of the SMART Commuter Rail Operations Project claim for 

State Transit Assistance Revenue and Population funds and the SMART Capital Spare 
Parts Project claim for State Transit Assistance State of Good Repair funds to the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission for Fiscal Years 2017-18 and 2018-19; and 
 
 
 

Page 25 of 62



 Resolution No. 2018-09  
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

 April 18, 2018 
 

Page 2 of 2 

 
2. Agrees to comply with all conditions and requirements set for in MTC’s Annual Fund 

Application Manual and applicable statutes, regulations and guidelines for all State 
Transit Assistance funded transit projects; and 
 

3. Designates SMART’s General Manager, or designee, to be authorized to execute all 
required documents of the State Transit Assistance program and any Amendments 
thereto with the Metropolitan Transportation Commission which may be necessary 
for the completion of the aforementioned project.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin 
Area Rail Transit District held on the 18th day of April, 2018, by the following vote:  
 
DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

 
 _________________________________ 
Debora Fudge, Chair, Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 _________________________________________ 
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 26 of 62



Date: February 24, 2010
W.I.: 1227

Referred By: Operations Committee
Revised: 10/26/11-C

07/22/15-C

ABSTRACT

Resolution No. 3866, Revised

This resolution updates and adopts MTC’s Transit Coordination implementation Plan pursuant to

the requirements of California Government Code § 66516 (SB 1474) and 66516.5; Public

Utilities Code § 99282.51 and 99314.7; and Streets and Highways Code § 30914.5.

This resolution supersedes Resolution No. 3055, as amended.

Attachment B to this resolution was revised on July 22, 2015 to update and revise requirements

for the 511 transit information program (Appendix B-i), the regional hub signage program

(Appendix B-2), and the Clipper® program (Appendix B-3), and to add a new Appendix B-S

containing coordination requirements applicable to transit rider surveys.

Page 27 of 62



Date: February 24, 2010
W.I.: 1227

Referred By: Operations Committee

Re: Transit Coordination Implementation Plan

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

RESOLUTION NO. 3866

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 66516 of the California Government Code, the

Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) is required to adopt rules and regulations to

promote the coordination of fares and schedules for all public transit systems within its

jurisdiction and to require every system to enter into a joint fare revenue sharing agreement with

connecting systems; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 66516.5 of the Government Code, MTC may identify

and recommend consolidation of those functions performed by individual public transit systems

that could be consolidated to improve the efficiency of regional transit service and;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 99282.5 of the California Public Utilities Code (PUC),

MTC is required to adopt rules and regulations to provide for governing interoperator transfers so

that the public transportation services between public transit operators are coordinated; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 99314.7 of the Public Utilities Code, MTC is required to

evaluate an operator’s compliance with coordination improvements prior to an operator receiving

allocations of State Transit Assistance (STA) funds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 30914.5 of the Streets and Highways Code, MTC must

adopt, as a condition of Regional Measure 2 fund allocation, a regional transit connectivity plan

to be incorporated in MTC’s Transit Coordination Implementation Plan pursuant to Section

66516.5, requiring operators to comply with the plan, which must include Policies and

procedures for improved fare collection; and

Page 28 of 62



MTC Resolution No. 3866
Page 2

WHEREAS, MTC previously adopted Resolution No. 3055 to implement these

requirements; and

WHEREAS, in order to ensure progress toward implementing coordination

recommendations, MTC wishes to formalize these recommendations by adopting the rules and

requirements required pursuant to Government Code Section 66516 and PUC Section 99282.5 as

set forth in this MTC Transit Coordination Implementation Plan, which includes a regional

Transit Connectivity Plan and Implementation Requirements, attached to this Resolution as

Attachments A and B, and incorporated herein as though set forth at length;

WHEREAS, MTC has consulted with the region’s transit agencies to develop the

regional Transit Connectivity Plan and Implementation Requirements, as required by

Government Code § 66516 and Streets and Highways Code § 30914.5; now therefore be it

RESOLVED, that MTC adopts the Transit Connectivity Plan (“Plan”) as set forth in

Attachment A; and be it further

RESOLVED, that MTC adopts the Implementation Requirements, as set forth in

Attachment B; and, be it further

RESOLVED, that prior to determining fund programming and allocations for an operator,

MTC shall review the efforts made by the operator to implement the requirements identified in

Attachments A and B, and if MTC determines that the operator has not made a reasonable effort

to implement the requirements of Attachments A and B, MTC may, at its discretion, withhold,

restrict or re-program funds and allocations to such operator to the extent allowed by statute, rule,

regulation, or MTC policy; and, be it further

RESOLVED, that all funds subject to programming and/or allocation by MTC are

covered by this resolution including but not limited to State Transit Assistance, Transportation

Development Act, Regional Measure 2, Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality, Surface

Page 29 of 62



MTC Resolution No. 3866
Page 3

Transportation Program and Transit Capital Priorities funds, to the extent permitted by statute;

and, be it further

RESOLVED, that this resolution shall be transmitted to the affected transit operators to

guide them in development of their annual budgets and short-range transit plan revisions; and, be

it further

RESOLVED, that the Operations Committee is authorized to approve amendments to

Attachments A and B, following consultation with the affected transit operators; and be it further

RESOLVED, this resolution supersedes Resolution No. 3055.

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

Scott Haggerty, Chair

The above resolution was entered into by
the Metropolitan Transportation Commission
at a regular meeting of the Commission held in
Oakland, California, on February 24, 2010

Page 30 of 62



Date: February 24, 2010
W.I.: 1227

Referred By: Operations Committee

Attachment A
Resolution No. 3866
Page 1 of I

Attachment A
MTC Transit Connectivity Plan

This Attachment A incorporates by reference the Transit Connectivity Plan, previously approved
by MTC in MTC Resolution No. 3055, which may be downloaded at:
http ://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/connectivity/index.htm.

Page 31 of 62



Date: February 24, 2010
W.I.: 1227

Referred By: Operations Committee
Revised: 10/26/11-C

07/22/15-C

Attachment B
Resolution No. 3866, Revised
Page 1 of 28

Attachment B
Implementation Requirements

The purpose of these Implementation Requirements is to establish the expectations and
requirements for each transit agency with respect to implementing the recommendations of the
Commission’s Transit Connectivity Plan (2006) and maintaining other transit coordination
programs, to outline the process by which MTC will involve transit operators in changes to
coordination requirements, and to establish the process for Commission action in the event of
transit agency non-compliance with these implementation requirements. A copy of this
Resolution 3866 is available for download at http://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/tcip/.

Per the Transit Connectivity Plan, MTC places high priority on improvements that:
• Accomplish tangible improvements for the passenger;
• Benefit the largest number of transit users, including both inter- and intra-system

transit riders, to the extent possible;
• Improve system productivity by sharing agency resources; and
• Enhance the ability of transit riders to reach significant destinations in adjoining

jurisdictions and along regional corridors by (1) improving the connections between
system services and (2) providing through service to adjoining jurisdictions in those
cases where the market clearly justifies such service.

In order to manage resources effectively, MTC will focus on a limited number of high priority
improvements, transfer project leadership from MTC to one or more transit agencies where
possible upon agreement of project partners, and establish priorities for implementing new
projects.

Page 32 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B

Page 2 of 28

The Commission has established specific transit operator requirements to implement a
coordinated regional network of transit services and to improve overall service productivity as
defined in the Transit Connectivity Plan. Any agency that is an eligible recipient of funds
subject to allocation or programming by MTC is subject to these requirements, including, but not
limited to the following:

1. Altamont Corridor Express
2. Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District
3. Caltrain
4. Capital Corridor Joint Powers Authority
5. Central Contra Costa Transit Authority
6. Eastern Contra Costa Transit Authority
7. Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and

Transportation District
8. Livermore/Amador Valley Transit Authority
9. Mann County Transit District
10. Napa County Transportation Planning Agency
11. San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit District
12. San Francisco Municipal Transportation

Agency
13. San Mateo County Transit District
14. Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority
15. Solano County Transit (SolTrans)
16. Solano Transportation Authority
17. Sonoma County Transit

18. Sonoma Marin Area Rail Transit
19. Transbay Joint Powers Authority
20. Union City Transit
21. Water Emergency Transportation

Authority
22. Western Contra Costa Transit

Authority
23. City of Dixon
24. City of Emeryville
25. City of Fairfield (Fairfield and Suisun

Transit)
26. City of Petaluma
27. City of Rio Vista
28. City of Santa Rosa
29. City of Vacaville

Unless a particular action is reserved for the Commission or the Operations Committee in this
Attachment B (including any Appendices hereto), where reference is made in this Attachment B
to approval, determination, clarification or the development of guidelines or policies by MTC,
such action may be taken or made by MTC staff in a manner that is consistent with the principles
set forth in Resolution 3866 and this Attachment B.

A. Operator Implementation Requirements

1. Implementation Requirements

The region has a history of implementing projects to improve transit coordination. Early
efforts focused on regional programs and policies such as disseminating tax-free transit
benefits and making paratransit eligibility determinations. More recent efforts, such as the
Transit Connectivity Plan and efforts to increase Transit Sustainability, identified
improvements to (1) designated regional transit hubs, including way-finding signage and
transit information, real time transit information, schedule coordination, last-mile services
and hub amenities, (2) system wide connectivity improvements, including 51.1 information
and Clipper® and (3) coordination of demographic and travel pattern transit rider sunveys.

Page 33 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B

Page 3 of 28

Specific implementation requirements for transit operators are listed in Appendices to this
Attachment:

• Appendix B-i, 511 Transit Program Requirements (including real-time transit);
• Appendix B-2, Regional Transit Hub Signage Program Requirements;
• Appendix B-3, Clipper® Implementation Requirements; and
• Appendix B-4, Maintenance of Existing Coordinated Services.
• Appendix B-5, Cooperative Demographic and Travel Pattern Transit Rider Survey

Program Requirements

As MTC continues to address recommendations from the Transit Connectivity Plan and other
emerging issues such as Transit Sustainability, new implementation requirements may
become necessary. The appendices may be modified to reflect changes in implementation
responsibilities, following the procedures outlined in this Attachment B, and subject to
approval by the Commission.

2. SB 602 Fare and Schedule Coordination Requirements
Currently, each operator certifies its adherence to the provisions of SB 602 (Statutes 1989,
Chapter 692, Government Code Section 66516, and as subsequently amended) as part of the
annual allocation process for TDA and STA funds when requests for these funds are
submitted to MTC. The SB 602 requirements are now incorporated into this Res. 3866, and
each operator’s compliance will be monitored accordingly. Per the requirements of SB 602,
each transit agency in the region has a revenue sharing agreement with every connecting
agency. In some cases, this takes the form of a reciprocal agreement to accept each other’s
passengers free of charge or to honor each other’s period passes or single-trip transfers for a
discounted fare. The BART/Muni FastPass is an example of a joint fare instrument to
address SB602 requirements. Each transit agency in the region is required to maintain these
reciprocal agreements as a condition of receiving STA funds (Gov. Code 66516).

3. Preserve Ability to Post and Disseminate Transit Information
MTC expects transit operators to preserve rights for MTC and connecting transit operators to
post and disseminate connecting transit information for free within their facilities. This
would include but not be limited to route, schedule, fare, real-time transit information and
information about regional transit projects (511, Clipper®). For any transit agency that has
already entered into a third-party agreement that compromises these rights, MTC expects the
transit agency to make good faith efforts to reinstate these rights in their agreement at the
earliest opportunity and, at a minimum, to reinstate such rights in future agreements or
renewals entered into after adoption of this Resolution. Nothing herein shall be interpreted as
requiring transit agencies to display advertising. Rather, the objective is to provide transit
customers with pertinent information that improves their transit experience.

B. Cost-Sharing
Implementation activities and other new transit connectivity and coordination efforts added to
these Implementation Requirements will be funded with MTC discretionary funds, transit agency
funds, and/or in-kind contributions of MTC and transit agency staff resources. If MTC considers

Page 34 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B

Page 4 of 28

adding new projects or services, MTC would implement the consultation process described in
Section C below to vet any expected cost impacts on the operators. Transit agencies are required
to waive all agency fees (for permits, etc.) they would otherwise charge to MTC, other transit
operators or third-party contractors to implement and maintain regional transit coordination
projects detailed in these requirements. Unless otherwise noted, MTC and transit agencies are
expected to cover the cost to implement their respective roles and responsibilities as identified in
these requirements or in pre-existing agreements. As specific initiatives move to
implementation, a lead agency may be designated to coordinate implementation activities on
behalf of the other participating transit agencies. Any agency that assumes this lead role and
incurs costs that it would otherwise not assume in order to perform this function may be
reimbursed, based upon an equitable agreement with the participating agencies, on a marginal
cost basis (i.e., the additional cost the transit operator incurs to perform the work).

C. Consultation Process

MTC will consult with transit agencies when defining new coordination requirements for
inclusion in Res. 3866 or when updating or revising requirements already in Res. 3866.

MTC will first consult with one or more of its technical advisory committees (TACs) to receive
transit agency input on the specific implementation requirements. MTC will notify TAC
members of the meetings and provide agendas in advance, and facilitate TAC discussions.
Affected transit operators are expected to participate. Transit agencies are responsible for
ensuring that the appropriate staff attends TAC meetings, that they participate in discussions in
good faith, and that they communicate with other relevant staff within their agency (including
those employees whose work may be affected) and executive management so that timely and
constructive agency feedback can be provided to MTC. MTC will consider TAC input when
formulating draft policy. In cases where there is no relevant TAC to address the issue under
consideration, MTC will formulate draft policy and solicit feedback from general advisory
groups, such as the Partnership Technical Advisory Committee (PTAC) or the Transit Finance
Working Group.

At its discretion, MTC may also solicit input from the Partnership Board, the Partnership
Technical Advisory Committee, the Transit Finance Working Group and MTC’s Policy
Advisory Council prior to Commission action. Following consultation with the TAC(s) andlor
other advisory groups, MTC will solicit feedback from the Partnership Transit Coordination
Committee. MTC will provide notification of the proposed PTCC meeting and agenda through
written communication to transit general managers and transit program coordinators and posting
of the meeting materials on MTC’ s web site.

After consulting with transit agencies, MTC will forward staffs recommendations to the MTC
Operations Committee and the Commission.

D. Sanctions
The Commission expects each transit agency to comply with the requirements outlined in this
Resolution and its Attachments as a condition of eligibility for STA and TDA funds, Regional
Measure 2 funds, transit capital funds (including federal transit formula funds, STP, CMAQ and

Page 35 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B

Page 5 of 28

STIP funds) and other funds subject to Commission programming and allocation actions. MTC
intends that the region’s transit agencies will implement these requirements in good faith and
cooperation among themselves and with MTC. The sanction of withholding, restricting or re
programming funds to enforce cooperation will be exercised by MTC through an action of the
Commission in cases where an agency fails to meet or fails to exhibit good faith in meeting these
requirements. In such cases, MTC staff will notify the agency of the possibility that a sanction
may be imposed. This notification will also recommend corrective actions that the agency
should take to meet the implementation requirements. The notification will be sent no less than
sixty (60) days prior to forwarding an MTC staff recommendation to the Commission.

Page 36 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-i

Page 6 of 28

Appendix B-i
511 Transit Information Requirements

MTC provides static transit data through the 511 phone and web service and real-time transit
departure information through the 511 phone and web services and the Regional Hub Signage
Program. MTC requires the full participation and support of all transit agencies to deliver
quality and timely information. MTC and the transit agencies have jointly developed data
transfer mechanisms for static and real-time transit data and identified appropriate roles and
responsibilities for all parties, as documented in “51] Transit and Real-Time Transit Program
Roles and Responsibilities.” MTC will review these requirements on an as-needed basis with
transit agency partners, and they may be updated from time to time. The document is available
at: http://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/tcip/. The key roles and responsibilities to provide transit
agency data on 511 services are as follows:

Transit Agencies will:
Generally:
1. Participate in MTC’s 511 Regional Transit Information System (RTIS) and Real-Time

Transit Technical Advisory Committee (511 TAC).
2. Support, fund and staff their roles and responsibilities related to the 511 services as described

below.
3. Notify transit customers of the availability of 511 information and 511 .org on transit agency

web sites, in printed materials, at bus stops/rail stations, and on other transit agency
information channels.

For Static Transit Information:
4. Provide accurate, complete, and timely information regarding transit routes, stops, schedules,

and fares for dissemination on 511 and/or through data feeds to third parties.
5. Transmit and maintain transit schedule data and other transit service information to MTC,

through provided tools, protocols and processes as discussed, updated and agreed in 511
TAC meetings, in advance of any schedule changes to allow for MTC’s timely inclusion on
511 and/or data feeds to third parties. MTC will provide a schedule identifying the necessary
advance time.

6. Perform quality control review (focusing on data changed for upcoming service revisions) on
a representative sample of agency service data prior to transmittal to MTC.

For Real-time Transit Information:
7. Provide prediction data to the Regional System by establishing and maintaining a data

connection to the Regional System and operating and maintaining an interface application.
8. Meet requirements, as defined in “511 Transit and Real-Time Transit Program Roles and

Responsibilities.”
9. Conduct on-going performance monitoring to ensure accurate and timely transfer of data to

the Regional System and accurate provision of prediction data to the public, in collaboration
with MTC.

10. Ensure that there is no impact to its provision of prediction data to 511 in the event that the
transit agency provides its specific prediction data to a third party.

Page 37 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-2

Page 7 of 28

11. Provide service disruption information to 511 where available and logistically feasible
through agreed upon formats.

MTC will:
Generally:
1. Organize and facilitate the 511 TAC.
2. Fund, operate, and maintain the 511 traveler information program for regional transit

information, including 511 .org, 511 phone, regional electronic Transit Information Displays
(eTIDs) at transit hubs, and other relevant applications.

3. In collaboration with transit agencies, conduct performance monitoring to ensure accurate
and timely transfer of both static and real-time transit data to the Regional 511 System.

For Static Transit Information:
4. Notify transit customers of the availability of transit agency websites at appropriate locations

on web site pages of 511 .org.

For Real-time Transit Information:
5. Share with third party vendors and the general public the real-time transit data as described in

“511 Transit and Real-Time Transit Program Roles and Responsibilities.”
6. Provide agencies with contact information for the 511 Traveler Information Center (TIC) to

allow for the posting of real-time transit service disruptionlemergency information on 511.

Page 38 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-2

Page 8 of 28

Appendix B-2
Regional Transit Hub Signage Program Requirements

MTC and transit agencies have developed the Regional Transit Hub Signage Program Technical
Standards and Guidelines (e.g. ‘the Standards’) to ensure consistency across the region as the
signage is deployed and maintained. A detailed version of the Standards is available at:
bUy ://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/tcip/. The Standards may be periodically updated.

The Standards include:
1. Four main sign types: directional signs, wayfinding kiosks, transit information displays, real

time transit information displays.
2. Guidance to locate signs at key decision points between transit operator services.
3. Design elements to establish a common “look” and “feel” for the signage including:

• Orange ‘i’ icon on a green background;
• Standard logos, icons, arrows and messages and an organizing hierarchy;
• Standard ‘frutiger’ font;
• Hierarchy for the location of information in each sign;
• Consistent map orientation and colors;
• Directional map compass and walking distance/time radius;
• Transit stop designation through agency logo/mode icon/route number ‘bubbles’; and
• Prominent 511 logo/message and regional transit program information.

Transit Agencies will:
1. Participate on the Transit Connectivity TAC as needed to raise and consider any further

revisions to the Standards or other relevant transit connectivity policies.
2. Comply with the Standards. Where exceptions to the Standards are desired, transit

operators must seek prior approval from MTC. Where ambiguity in the Standards exists,
transit operators shall request clarification from MTC.

3. Comply with task responsibilities (O&M, replacement and ownership) further detailed in
Appendix B-2, Attachment 1. In most cases, the transit agency that owns the property on
which the sign has been installed is assigned responsibility. For signs installed on
property not owned by a transit agency, the transit agency providing the most service
(passenger boardings) in the area of the sign has been assigned responsibility.

4. Facilitate the permitting of signs by waiving all fees that a transit agency would usually
charge for sign installation on its property or leased operating areas.

5. As transit agencies plan new facilities or prepare for major remodels of existing facilities,
transit agencies will consult with MTC early in the planning process to ensure effective
information is provided to transit users and consistency with the Standards is achieved.
MTC will determine if a project requires application of the Standards. If yes, the
responsible transit agency will implement the appropriate signage throughout the transit
facility in accordance with the Standards.

MTC will:
1. In consultation with Transit Connectivity TAC, develop, document and periodically

update regional sign Standards.
2. Comply with cost and task responsibilities detailed in Appendix B-2, Attachment 1.

Page 39 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-2

Page 9 of 28

3. Solicit feedback from transit agencies on significant changes to regional policy affecting
the 24 hubs through the Transit Connectivity Technical Advisory Committee.

4. As resources permit, provide technical assistance to transit agencies wishing to extend the
regional sign Standard to non-regional hubs.

5. Explore opportunities to extend constancy of wayfinding information across modes
throughout the region, including through technological and other innovative means.

Page 40 of 62



R
es

ol
ut

io
n

N
o.

38
66

A
tt

ac
hm

en
t

B
,

A
pp

en
di

x
B

-2
,

A
tt

ac
hm

en
t

1
Pa

ge
10

of
28

A
p
p
e
n
d
i
x

B
-
2
,
A

t
t
a
c
h

m
e
n

t
1
:

H
u
b

S
i
g
n

a
g

e
P

r
o

g
r
a
m

C
o

s
t
/
T

a
s
k

C
os

tR
es

po
ns

ib
il

it
y

T
as

k
R

es
po

ns
ib

il
it

y
R

e
s
p
o

n
s
i
b

i
l
i
t
i
e
s

H
u
b

S
i
g

n
a
g
e

O
p
e
r
a
t
i
o
n
s

R
e
g

i
o

O
p

e
r
a
t
o

r
R

e
g
i
o
n

I O
p

e
r
a
t
o

r

&
M

a
i
n
t
e
n

a
n

c
e
(
O

&
M

)

T
a
s
k

A
.

P
h

y
s
i
c
a
l
0

&
M

b
y

S
i
g
n

T
y
p
e

1.
D

ir
ec

tio
na

L
’W

ay
fi

nd
in

g
Si

gn
s

a.
A

nn
ua

l
O

pe
ra

ti
on

s
an

d
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
(O

&
M

)
1

X
X

(m
ci

.
hu

b
id

en
ti

fi
ca

ti
on

si
gn

s)

b.
L

if
ec

yc
le

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
2

X
X

c.
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p
3

X
X

2.
W

ay
fi

nd
in

g
K

io
sk

s
a.

A
nn

ua
l

O
pe

ra
ti

on
s

an
d

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

(O
&

M
)’

X
X

b.
L

if
ec

yc
le

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
2

X
X

c.
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p
3

X
X

3.
R

ea
l-

T
im

e
T

ra
ns

it
Si

gn
s

a.
A

nn
ua

l
O

pe
ra

tio
ns

an
d

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

(O
&

M
)’

X
X

b.
L

if
ec

yc
le

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
2

X
X

c.
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p
3

X
X

4.
T

ra
ns

it
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
a.

A
nn

ua
l

O
pe

ra
ti

on
s

an
d

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

(O
&

M
)’

X
X

D
is

pl
ay

s

b.
L

if
ec

yc
le

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t
X

X

c.
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p
3

X
X

B
.

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

C
on

te
nt

0
&

M
by

Si
gn

T
yp

e
1.

D
ir

ec
ti

on
al

/W
ay

fm
di

ng
Si

gn
s

d.
St

at
ic

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

C
on

te
nt

X
X

(m
ci

._
hu

b_
id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n_

si
gn

s)
2.

W
ay

fi
nd

in
g

K
io

sk
s

d.
Pr

in
te

d
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
co

nt
en

t
4

X
X

3.
T

ra
ns

it
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
d.

P
ri

nt
ed

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

co
nt

en
t

4
X

X
D

is
pl

ay
s

4.
R

ea
l-

T
im

e
T

ra
ns

it
Si

gn
s

d.
E

le
ct

ro
ni

c
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
co

nt
en

t
X

X

1
In

cl
ud

in
g

el
ec

tr
ic

ity
,

cl
ea

ni
ng

,
gr

af
fi

ti
re

m
ov

al
,

an
d

re
pa

ir
s.

2
In

cl
ud

in
g

pl
an

ni
ng

,
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t,
co

or
di

na
tio

n,
an

d
in

st
al

la
tio

n.

In
su

ra
nc

e,
lia

bi
lit

y,
an

d
w

ar
ra

nt
y

cl
ai

m
s.

In
cl

ud
in

g
qu

ar
te

rl
y

cl
ea

ni
ng

of
ph

ys
ic

al
si

gn
ca

se
.

Page 41 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-3

Page 11 of28

Appendix B-3
Clipper® Implementation Requirements

This Appendix defines the Commission’s expectations of the transit agencies to ensure a
successful operation of the Clipper® (formerly TransLink®) system in three sections:

I. Participation Requirements
II. Regional Clipper® Communications and Marketing Activities

III. Fare Media Transition Schedules by Specific Operators

Section I describes general Clipper® implementation requirements for participating operators.

Section II defines expectations for communications and marketing: a program area critical to
smooth implementation of a full transition to Clipper® that can only be addressed through a
collaborative, regional approach.

Section III establishes the dates by which the transit agencies that are currently operating
Clipper® will transition their existing prepaid fare media to Clipper®-only availability.

I. Participation Requirements

The Clipper® fare payment system was procured by MTC and has been implemented, operated
and maintained under the Design Build Operate Maintain contract between MTC and Cubic
Transportation Systems, Inc. for the Clipper® fare payment system (the current Clipper®
Contract). The Clipper® Contract was assigned to Cubic Transportation Systems, Inc. (the
current Clipper® Contractor), on July 2, 2009 and has an operating term extending through
November 2, 2019. In this role as counterparty to the Clipper® Contract, MTC is sometimes
referred to in this Appendix B-3 as the “Contracting Agency.” Transit agencies operating
Clipper® as their fare payment system are required to enter into the Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) among MTC and the transit agencies operating Clipper®.

The following describes general Clipper® implementation requirements for participating
operators. An operator’s failure to meet one or more of these requirements may result in non
compliance with Resolution 3866.

1. Implement and operate the Clipper® fare payment system in accordance with the
Clipper® Operating Rules, as adopted and amended from time to time in accordance with
the MOU. The current Clipper® Operating Rules (updated in June 2012) are incorporated
herein by this reference. The Clipper® Operating Rules establish operating parameters
and procedures for the consistent and efficient operation of Clipper® throughout the
region and are available on MTC’s website at http://www.mtc.ca.gov/planning/tcip/.

2. Pay its share of costs according to the MOU, including the cost allocation formula set
forth in Appendix B to the MOU.

3. Abide by the revenue sharing formula in Appendix B to the MOU.

Page 42 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-3

Page 12 of28

4. Make its facilities and staff available for implementation and operation of Clipper®. Any
Operator and the Contracting Agency may agree to an Operator-Specific Implementation
Plan, setting forth specific requirements regarding implementation and operation of
Clipper® for such Operator.

5. Make determinations regarding the placement of Clipper® equipment on the Operator’s
facilities and equipment; perform necessary site preparation; attend Clipper® Contractor
training on the use of the Clipper® equipment; and provide training to employees using
the equipment.

6. Implement, operate and promote Clipper® as the primary fare payment system for each
Operator. Clipper®s primary market is frequent transit riders (i.e., commuters and transit
passholders). Operators shall not establish other fare payment systems or fare policies
that could deter or discourage these patrons’ preference to use Clipper®. Operators shall
set fares so that fares paid with Clipper® are equivalent or lower than fares paid either
with cash or other forms of payment.

No new nonClipper® prepaid fare product, other than for promotional, special event or
limited-audience—e.g., tourist—fares, shall be created by any transit operator without
consulting with and receiving prior approval from MTC.

Nothing in this provision is intended to discourage operators from providing leadership
on new technologies or innovations that would offer improvement to fare collection
operations or the customer experience. The expectation is that these new initiatives
should leverage the attributes and assets of Clipper®, not compete with Clipper® or
undermine customers’ preference to use Clipper®.

7. Perform first-line maintenance upon Clipper® equipment located on their facilities or
vehicles, promptly notify the Clipper® Contractor when second-line maintenance of
Clipper® equipment is needed, promptly notify the Contracting Agency and the Clipper®
Contractor of any issues affecting daily financial reconciliation or accuracy of system
reports, issue all types (including, but not limited to, cards configured as senior or youth)
of Clipper® cards and add value to existing Clipper® cards from all Ticket Office
Terminals located at their business facilities, and provide at least the same level of front-
line customer service to their patrons using Clipper® as to patrons using other forms of
fare payment.

8. Sufficiently train and educate agency personnel who have C1ipper®related
responsibilities so those personnel are able to carry out the requirements placed upon
operators in this Resolution.

9. Assist MTC, as necessary, to develop a program for Transit Capital Priorities (TCP)
funds for the purpose of procuring and installing end-of-lifecycle Clipper® equipment and
to submit and administer grants for programmed TCP funds on a “pass-through” basis.

Page 43 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-3

Page 13 of28

10. Take financial responsibility for replacement of equipment damaged in-service due to
vandalism or any other cause not covered by the Clipper® Contract warranty.’

IL Regional Clipper® Communications and Marketing Activities

1. Effective Date. For operators currently operating the Clipper® system, these Clipper®
marketing and communications requirements are effective immediately. For operators not yet
operating Clipper®, the requirements are effective two months after MTC ‘ s approval of the
Clipper® system as Revenue Ready for that operator.

2. General Reciuirements. Operators shall present Clipper® to customers, employees and media
as a fully operational fare payment option. This includes, but is not limited to, identification
of Clipper® as a fare payment option in brochures, websites, advertisements,
schedules/timetables, email newsletters, internal memos, bulletins and training manuals, and
any other materials that describe an operator’s fare payment options. Operators shall present
Clipper® as an option so that Clipper® has equal or greater prominence than the presentation
of other payment options. Each operator shall incorporate andlor modify the presentation of
Clipper® in existing brochures, websites, schedules/timetables, etc. whenever the operator
next updates the content of these items.

In all cases, operators’ marketing and communications about Clipper®, whether in brochures,
websites, advertisements or other forms, shall adhere to Clipper® brand guidelines developed
by MTC with input from transit operators. The Clipper® Brand Guidelines are available
athttps://www.clippercard.comlClipperWeb/toolbox.do.

3. Equipment Identification. If not already identified as such, operators shall identify Clipper®-
compatible fare payment and Clipper®-compatible vending equipment with a decal or other
visual identifier to indicate the equipment’s Clipper® compatibility.

4. Operator Training. Operators shall ensure appropriate Clipper®-related training for transit
operator staff including, but not limited to, vehicle operators, station agents, conductors,
customer service personnel, proof of payment officers, ticket sales staff and any other
personnel responsible for interacting with customers concerning payment options.

5. Marketing Coordination. Operators shall participate in the development and implementation
of a Clipper® marketing and communications initiative that will begin approximately June 1,
2010. This includes, but is not limited to:
• Staff participation in the development and implementation of the initiative;
• Dissemination of Clipper® brochures and/or other information materials on vehicles

and/or in stations in a manner consistent with the operator’s dissemination of other
similar operational information; and

• Providing information about Clipper® utilizing space available on vehicles and/or in
stations that is already used by the operator for dissemination of operational information
(space available includes, but is not limited to, car cards, posters, and electronic displays).

During the term of the existing Clipper® Contract, MTC shall procure replacement equipment on an operator’s
behalf, and operators shall pay for the full cost of the equipment including all installation costs and materials.

Page 44 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-3

Page 14 of28

6. Funding. Funding for the initial phases of the communications and marketing program shall
come from the marketing funds already in the Clipper® capital budget and previously
assigned to individual operators.

III. Fare Media

The tables below set forth thefare media that the designated operator shall convert to Clipper®-
only availability and the date by which the operator shall no longer accept such fare media in its
existing form. In general, MTC has emphasized with each operator a transition of those fare
products which currently represent a significant portion of that operator’s boardings.

An operator will be excused from compliance with a transition date requirement for particular
fare media, if the Clipper® Contractor has not met at least 80% of the cardholder support service
level standards set forth in Section B. 1.12 of the Clipper® Contract for the two calendar months
ending one month before the scheduled transition date. The operator’s transition date
requirement for the affected fare media will be reset to one month after the Clipper® Contractor
has met at least 80% of the Clipper® Contract’s cardholder support service level standards for
two consecutive calendar months.

**NOTE:  FARE MEDIA TABLE NOT INCLUDED HERE FOR BREVITY

**See Note Below

Page 45 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-3

Page 23 of 28

Other Operators

The following are general Clipper® implementation and fare media transition requirements for
operators not yet operating Clipper®. Following MTC’s approval of the Clipper® system as
Revenue Ready for a given operator, MTC will work with the operator to identify more specific
fare media transition plans. Unless otherwise approved by MTC, an operator shall (i) begin
accepting Clipper® for fare payment by customers no more than two months following MTC’s
approval of the Clipper® system as Revenue Ready for the operator, and (ii) end acceptance of
prepaid nonClipper® fare media no more than one year following MTC’s approval of the
Clipper® system as Revenue Ready for the operator.

All of the below-listed operators (the “Phase 3 Operators”) are exempt from subsection (ii) of the
immediately preceding paragraph for the shorter of (a) the term of the MOU, as it may be
extended hereafter, and (b) the term of the existing Clipper® Contract as it may be extended
hereafter. For the duration of such exemption, the Phase 3 Operators may continue to accept
prepaid nonClipper® fare media, including passes, tickets and transfers; provided that such
Operators continue to comply with Section 1.6 and all other applicable provisions of this
Appendix B-3.

Phase 3 Operators

Central Contra Costa Transit Authority (County Connection)
City of Fairfield, as the operator of Fairfield and Suisun Transit (FAST)
City of Petaluma, as the operator or Petaluma Transit
City of Santa Rosa, as the operator of Santa Rosa CityBus
City of Vacaville, as the operator of Vacaville City Coach
Eastern Contra Costa Transit Authority (Tn Delta Transit)
Livermore/Amador Valley Transit Authority (LAVTA Wheels)
Mann County Transit District (Mann Transit)
Napa County Transportation and Planning Agency (VINE Transit)
Solano County Transit (SolTrans)
Sonoma County Transit
Union City Transit
Water Emergency Transportation Authority (San Francisco Bay Ferry)
Western Contra Costa Transit Authority (We5tCAT)

Page 46 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-4

Page 24 of 28

Appendix B-4
Maintenance of Existing Coordinated Services

The Commission’s previously adopted Transit Coordination Implementation Plan
(Resolution No. 3055) included a number of coordination programs that were not modified
by the Transit Connectivity Plan. Of these, the Commission expects the transit operators to
continue to support the following:

1. Regional Transit Connection (RTC) Discount Card Program — Provides identification
cards to qualified elderly and disabled individuals for reduced fares on transit.
Transit operators and MTC maintain memorandums of understanding about roles and
responsibilities for program implementation. The RTC Discount Card is being
incorporated into the Clipper® program

2. ADA Paratransit Eligibility Program — Consists of a regional application, a regional
eligibility database administered by a transit agency on behalf of the region and
universal acceptance across transit systems of all eligibility determinations. Transit
operators have flexibility to tailor the application process to screen applicants to
facilitate eligibility determinations.

3. Interagency ADA Paratransit Services — Establishes policies to promote a consistent
approach to interagency paratransit passenger transfers (see Appendix A-4,
Attachment 1).

4. Regional Transportation Emergency Management Plan — The Regional
Transportation Emergency Management Plan (formerly know as the Trans Response
Plan) is a framework to coordinate transit services during regional emergencies.
Transit operators are required to participate in regional exercises to test the
implementation of the plan. Transit agencies certify compliance through their annual
State Transit Assistance (STA) funding claims process, and also address emergency
coordination planning through their Short Range Transit Plans.

5. Regional Links/Express Bus/Feeder Bus Services — Regional Links include bus
service across the Bay Bridge, Dumbarton Bridge, the San Mateo Bridge and the
Richmond/San Rafael Bridge that has been incorporated into the Express Bus
Services program funded with Regional Measure 2 (RM2), and will be monitored per
RM2 requirements. Express Bus Services also include Owl Service which operates
along the BART rail lines at night when BART is closed. Express feeder bus services
to/from BART stations during peak periods are maintained through direct allocation
of BART’s STA funds to transit agencies as specified in the annual Fund Estimate. If
STA is unavailable, BART’s General Fund up to S2.5 million is available to support
these services per existing agreement. If additional funding is needed, it will be
subject to discussion on an annual basis.

Page 47 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-4, Attachment 1

Page 25 of 28

Appendix B-4, Attachment 1
Requirements for Interagency ADA Paratransit Services

Note: Transit operators developed guidelines for interagency ADA paratransit services. MTC
adapted these guidelines for the purpose ofdefining coordination requirements.

Consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirement to provide paratransit
services that are complementary to fixed-route transit services, Bay Area transit operators have
identified a transfer-oriented network of interagency paratransit services. Interagency paratransit
trips may require a transfer between connecting paratransit providers at a location specified by
the transit operator. The following regional requirements are intended to improve connections
between paratransit services for both passengers and paratransit providers. The requirements
establish regional protocol for how the system will operate as well as specify the responsibilities
of paratransit providers to assure an efficient, user-friendly system.

1. All public transit agencies in the San Francisco Bay Area will honor the regional ADA
Eligibility Process [as approved by transit agencies] when certifying an individual for ADA
paratransit services.

2. Eligibility for an individual requesting interagency paratransit services will be verified
through the ADA Paratransit Regional Eligibility Database.

3. Transit operators will develop and make available customer information on how to access
and use interagency paratransit services. This information will be made readily available in
accessible formats.

4. Interagency paratransit trips will usually require a transfer between connecting paratransit
providers at a location specified by the transit operator. Transit operators will transfer
passengers at designated transfer locations that, to the extent possible, are also used as fixed-
route transfer sites. For operational efficiency or customer service quality, use of other
transfer sites is not precluded. Operators will seek to establish transfer locations that are
clean, safe, sheltered and well-lit with accessible telephones and restrooms nearby.
Established interagency paratransit transfer locations on transit properties will be clearly
marked with a consistent sign designed and adopted at the regional level.

5. For operational efficiency or customer service reasons, transit operators may:

• transfer passengers to a connecting paratransit provider at a transfer location,
including having the passenger wait without assistance until the connecting provider
arrives; or

• provide through-trip service into an adjoining transit agency’s service area (not
requiring a transfer); or

• provide transfer assistance to passengers at transfer points (waiting with the passenger
until connecting provider arrives); and

Page 48 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-4, Attachment 1

Page 26 of 28

• coordinate their schedules and dispatch procedures with connecting provider(s) on the
day of service.

6. Coordinating Bay Area interagency paratransit reservations shall be the responsibility of
paratransit providers. Subject to availability of rides, a single transit coordinator will be
responsible to schedule an interagency paratransit trip (including round-trip service). For
trips requiring coordination between only two transit operators, the operator in whose
jurisdiction the trip originates will usually perform the function of trip coordinator to
schedule the entire trip and to serve as a point of contact for passenger inquiries. For trips
involving three or more paratransit providers, a regional trip coordinator may perform these
functions.

7. Transit operators shall accept reservations for interagency paratransit trips according to their
local advance reservation policies. When coordinating a trip, the shorter advance reservation
period of the connecting agencies will apply. In some cases, the scheduling operator will be
unable to determine the availability of a requested interagency paratransit trip until the
shortest advance reservation period is open. If, due to differences in advance reservation
periods, trip availability cannot be determined at the time the trip is requested, the scheduling
operator will inform the passenger of when to call to complete the trip reservation process.
In the meantime, the scheduling operator may book available legs of the requested trip
according to local advance reservation policies.

8. Transit operators will charge a fare consistent with each individual operator’s fare payment
policy. All fares will be communicated to the passenger by the operator scheduling the first
leg of the interagency paratransit trip at the time the ride is confirmed. Operators and MTC
will work toward a regional fare payment method and/or regional fare policy for paratransit
services.

Page 49 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-5

Page 27 of 28

Appendix B-5
Cooperative Demographic and Travel Pattern Transit Rider Survey

Program Requirements

This Appendix defines the Commission’s expectations of the transit agencies to ensure
efficient collection of passenger demographic and travel pattern2 information.

The Commission and the transit agencies have a common interest in understanding the
demographics and travel patterns of transit riders. Between 2012 and March 2015, Commission
staff have carried out transit surveys in partnership with 15 separate transit agencies as part of the
Cooperative Demographic and Travel Pattern Transit Rider Survey Program (“Survey Program”
henceforth). Collecting this information together is more cost effective than collecting it
separately. The resulting consolidated data facilitates across-agency comparisons and analyses.

The key roles and responsibilities of MTC and the transit agencies on the Survey
Program are as follows:

Transit agencies will:

1. Participate in the Survey Program when collecting information on transit passenger
demographics AND travel patterns together.

2. Contribute to the cost of the agency-specific survey performed as part of the Survey
Program. Federally-funded operators not listed below will pay no cost to survey service
they provide; the following operators will pay 20 percent of the cost to survey service
they provide:

• Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District;
• Bay Area Rapid Transit District;
• Caltrain;
• Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District;
• San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency;
• San Mateo County Transit District; and,
• Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority.

3. Contribute a limited number of agency-specific survey questions.
4. Contribute advice and suggestions to the survey procedures including, but not limited to,

development of sampling plans, frequency and timing of demographic and travel pattern
surveying, instrument design, and recruitment strategies.

5. Share ownership of all work products including raw and processed data.

2 Defined here as: (a) the precise location of the trip origin, first transit boarding, last transit alighting, and trip
destination; (b) the means of travel between the trip origin and first transit boarding and between the last transit
alighting and trip destination; and, (c) the sequence of transit routes used between the first transit boarding and the
last transit alighting.

Page 50 of 62



Resolution No. 3866
Attachment B, Appendix B-S

Page 28 of 28

MTC will:

1. Procure consultant resources to carry out the Survey Program.
2. Oversee consultant performance to ensure delivery of high quality products.
3. Contribute to the cost of the Survey Program. MTC will pay 80 percent of the cost to

survey service provided by the seven agencies identified in item 2 of the “transit agencies
will” list above; MTC will pay 100 percent of the cost to survey service provided by
federally-funded transit providers not identified in the above list.

4. Develop a standard set of survey questions (including response options) and update these
questions, as needed, in consultation with the transit agencies.

5. Develop and update a set of survey procedures including, but not limited to, development
of sampling plans, instrument design, and passenger recruitment strategies.

6. Deliver survey results, including raw data, procedure documentation, and summary
reports, to transit agencies in a timely manner.

7. Maintain a database of regional transit rider demographics and travel patterns.
8. Convene a working group to discuss the surveying effort (including the survey

procedures) and the timing of surveys relative to capital projects, federal requirements,
financial resources, customer service and other agency-led survey efforts, and schedule
mark-ups (a.k.a., sign-ups, bid-dates). The group will meet no less than once a year and
will develop and maintain a set of Survey Program standard operating procedures that
will define operator-specific question allowances, data distribution procedures (including
any necessary privacy safeguards), and other details.

9. Share ownership of all work products including raw and processed data.

Page 51 of 62



Page 52 of 62



 

Contract No. LG-PS-15-001 Page 1 of 3 

FIFTH AMENDMENT  TO AGREEMENT  FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

AND BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP  

 

 

This FIFTH AMENDMENT  dated as of  April 18, 2018 (the "Fifth Amendment") to the 

Legal Services Agreement by and between the SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT ("SMART") and BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP ("CONSULTANT"), 

dated as of April 1, 2015 (the "Original Agreement," and as supplemented and amended by the 

First Amendment, Second Amendment, Third Amendment, Fourth Amendment,  and this Fifth 

Amendment, the "Agreement"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, SMART and CONSULTANT  previously entered into the Original 

Agreement to provide specialized legal services on April 1, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, SMART and CONSULTANT previously entered various amendments 

between September 15, 2015 and July 19, 2017 to increase the not-to-exceed amount and extend 

the term of the Agreement;  

WHEREAS, SMART desires to amend the Agreement to increase the not to exceed 

amount of the Agreement by $200,000 for a total not-to-exceed amount of $750,000, and extend 

the term to June 30, 2019. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals set forth above and the covenants 

contained herein, it is mutually agreed by and between the parties that: 

AGREEMENT 

1. "ARTICLE 5.  LEGAL FEES AND BILLING PRACTICES" the last paragraph in 

Article 5 is hereby replaced in its entirety with the following:  

“This engagement is subject to a Not to Exceed cap in the amount of $750,000.  Should 

additional fees or costs be contemplated, this agreement can be amended by mutual 

agreement of the parties”;  

2. “ARTICLE 19. TERM” is hereby amended as follows: 

“The term of this Agreement shall remain in effect until June 30, 2019.  Notwithstanding 

any other provision of this Agreement, at any time and without cause, both parties shall 

have the right, at their sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement by giving 30 days 

written notice to the other party.” 

 

 

Page 53 of 62



 

Contract No. LG-PS-15-001 Page 2 of 3 

3. Except to the extent the Agreement is specifically  amended or supplemented hereby, the 

Agreement, together with all supplements, amendments and exhibits thereto is, and shall 

continue to be, in full force and effect as originally executed, and nothing contained 

herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate, or otherwise affect any 

provision of the Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
------------------------------THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK-------------------------- 
 

Page 54 of 62



 

Contract No. LG-PS-15-001 Page 3 of 3 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fifth Amendment as set 

forth below. 

  SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

Dated:  By  

  Farhad Mansourian, General Manager 

 

 

  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

Dated:  By  

  District Counsel 

 

 

  BURKE, WILLIAMS & SORENSEN, LLP 
 

 

Dated:  By  

  Benjamin L. Stock, Esq. 

 
 

 

Page 55 of 62



Page 56 of 62



Page 57 of 62



Resolution No. 2018-10 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

April 18, 2018 
 

 

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT APPROVING A CHANGE ORDER TO CONTRACT NO. CV-DB-16-001 RELATED TO THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF ANDERSEN DRIVE AT-GRADE CROSSING 
              
  
 WHEREAS, District entered into Contract No. CV-DB-16-001 with Stacy and Witbeck/ 
Herzog, JV for the Larkspur Extension Contract; and 
  
 WHEREAS, Contract Change Order No. A-001 provides for the reconstruction of a 36 inch 
storm sewer that is part of the Andersen Drive at-grade crossing construction; and 
 
 WHEREAS, District and City of San Rafael (City) entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) for the implementation of the Larkspur Extension Project; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the MOU called for the District to construct a new at-grade crossing of 
Andersen Drive for the City and to be funded by the City; and   
 
 WHEREAS, construction of the Andersen Drive at-grade crossing discovered a 36 inch 
storm sewer line that could not handle railroad loading and required replacement; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the City developed replacement plans for the 36 inch storm sewer and has 
approved and agreed to fund Change Order No. A-001 to include the work in Contract CV-16-001; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Contract CV-DB-16-001 was approved through a competitive solicitation and 
procurement process and the work included in this Change Order is consistent with the scope of 
work previously awarded; and 
 
            WHEREAS, this Change Order meets the specifications and requirements of Contract No. 
CV-DB-11-006; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Contractor and SMART staff negotiated a final cost of $478,781 for this Change 
Order; and 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

  
1. That the foregoing recitals are true and correct. 
  
2. That Change Order No. A-001, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit “A”, is hereby approved. 

Page 58 of 62



Resolution No. 2018-10 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

April 18, 2018 
 

 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District held on the 18th April 2018, by the following vote: 
 
DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 
 
NOES: 
 
ABSENT: 
 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Debora Fudge, Chair, Board of Directors 
       Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
ATTEST: 
 
        
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
 
  
 

Page 59 of 62



Change Order A-001 
Contract No.:  CV-DB-16-001 
Contract Title: Larkspur Extension Project

Concurred By: 

___________________________________________ 

Concurred By: 

______________________________________________ 
Project Engineer                                                   Date 

Ahmed Thleiji 

District Chief Engineer                                                Date 

Bill Gamlen 

The undersigned agrees to the terms and conditions described herein. 

Contractor Acceptance Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 

Title:  Project Representative Title: General Manager 

(Authorized Signature for Contractor)        Date 

Dan Elshire 

(Authorized Signature for Owner)       Date 

Farhad Mansourian 

Page 1 of 3 

 Issued to: Stacy and Witbeck/Herzog, A Joint Venture 

 2800 Harbor Bay Parkway 

Alameda, California 94502 

Phone: (510) 393-2520 

Change Notice Reference: 
N/A 

CO Title:  Andersen Drive 36” Storm Drain  
Funding Source: Andersen Drive – City of San Rafael 

The Contract Price due to this CO will change by: $478,781 

The Contract Performance Time due to the CO will be change by: Extend the Milestone 1 Civil by 21 
calendar days 
EXCEPT AS MODIFIED BY THIS CHANGE ORDER, ALL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT, AS 
PREVIOUSLY MODIFIED, REMAIN UNCHANGED AND IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THIS 
CHANGE ORDER IS A FINAL AND EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF THE CONTRACT TIME AND CONTRACT AMOUNT 
AND CONSTITUTES A MUTUAL ACCORD AND SATISFACTION OF ALL CLAIMS, CURRENT OR FUTURE, OF 
WHATEVER NATURE CAUSED BY OR ARISING OUT OF THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THIS 
CHANGE ORDER INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DIRECT, INDIRECT AND CONSEQUENTIAL COSTS; 
ADDITIONAL TIME FOR PERFORMANCE; AND THE IMPACT OF THE CHANGE SPECIFIED IN THIS CHANGE ORDER, 
ALONE OR TAKEN WITH OTHER CHANGES, ON THE UNCHANGED WORK. 
Description of change: 

  This lump sum change order directs the contractor to procure and install: 

 120 LF of Storm Drain Pipe 12-inch RCP Class V - See Profile D, Sheet DR-02 attached.

 293 LF of Storm Drain Pipe 36-inch RCP Class V.

 31 LF Storm Drain Pipe 18-inch RCP Class V.

 2 EA Catch Basin 36”x36”.

Exhibit "A"

Page 60 of 62



Change Order A-001 
Contract No.:  CV-DB-16-001 
Contract Title: Larkspur Extension Project  

 

Initials: 

 Project Engineer   Contractor  Chief Engineer  

 
Page 2 of 3 

 
The work shall include excavation, demolition, removing of portion of the existing storm drain, 
dewater, backfill and compaction, and any incidental related to the installation of the new storm drain 
system.  
 
A description of the items above were tabulated in a bid schedule format below under Exhibit- A by 
the City of San Rafael.  
 
Attached to this change order are revised City of San Rafael Andersen Drive updated storm drain 
profile drawings 
 
This Change Order extends Contract Milestone 1, ” Substantial Completion of Civil Work” by 21 
calendar days to 581 calendar days after civil NTP, resulting in a new milestone date of February 
20,2019. 
 
 

Compensation for this Change Order will be made by adding the following Pay Item(s): 
 
 

Pay 
Item 
No. 

Funding 
Source 

Description Unit Qty. Unit Price Item Total 

CO A-
001 

1011B Andersen Drive 36” 
Storm Drain  

LS 1 $478,781 $478,781 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 61 of 62



Change Order A-001 
Contract No.:  CV-DB-16-001 
Contract Title: Larkspur Extension Project

Initials: 

Project Engineer Contractor Chief Engineer 

Page 3 of 3 
Page 62 of 62


	01_Agenda_04.18.2018
	02_Minutes_03.21.2018
	06a_Monthly Financial Reports
	06a_Monthly Financial Reports.pdf
	06a_Cash Flows Report
	06a_April 2018 Contract Summary


	06b_JFlageollet Contract Amendment Staff Rpt
	06c_TAM Agreement with SMART Staff Rpt
	07_STA Fund Claims to MTC Staff Rpt
	08_Burke Williams Sorenson Contract Amendment Staff Rpt
	09_SWH Change Order Larkspur Ext Staff Rpt
	09_Resolution No. 2018-10_SWH Change Order Larkspur.pdf
	09_SWH Resolution no 2018-10- Andersen Storm Serwer CO
	09_Change Order A-001 - Andersen Drive 36 Storm Drain





